

Universiteit Utrecht

Why there: distribution of citizens initiatives explained

A study on the geographical distribution of citizens initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands



Thijs van der Knaap

Master thesis Contemporary Social problems Faculty of social and behavioral sciences June, 2017

Why there: distribution of citizens' initiatives explained

A study on the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands.

Utrecht, 26, June, 2017

Thijs van der Knaap Student number: 3814254

Master thesis Contemporary Social Problems Faculty of social and behavioral sciences Utrecht University



<u>Thesis supervisor:</u> Prof. dr. P.P. (Peter) Groenewegen NIVEL & Utrecht University (faculties of Social and Behavioral Sciences & Geosciences)

Why there: distribution of citizens initiatives explained – Thijs van der Knaap (2017)

Preface

Before you lies my master thesis: 'Why there: distribution of citizens' initiatives explained'. This thesis was made as part of the master: 'Contemporary social problems' of Utrecht University and on behalf of NIVEL, Netherlands institute for health services research. This thesis marks the end of my career as a student and a long period of studying in Utrecht. It was a long year that was educational, enlightening, sometimes stressful and exhausting but above all fulfilling. I realise that I would not have been able to write this thesis without the help of a few other people and I want to take this opportunity to thank them.

Firstly I want to thank my study partner and statistics guru Lisa Vermeulen, whose knowledge of Stata and MLwiN helped me come to better results and whose company made long days at work a lot more fun.

Next I want to thank my thesis supervisor Peter Groenewegen whose advice and encouragement helped me tremendously during the process of writing. His openness for questions and tireless efforts to improve my research raised the quality of my thesis and he taught me a lot.

I also want to thank a lot of colleagues at NIVEL for the help they provided during my time at NIVEL:

- Lucas van der Hoek, thank you for your stata course that made learning a new statistics program that much easier
- Peter Spreeuwenberg, thank you for providing me with CBS and WoOn data and giving me advice on how to neighborhood data to postal code areas
- Raymond Kennes, thank you for providing geodata and making such beautiful maps for my research

I also want to thank Floor de Jong (Vilans), Jan Smelik (Nederland zorgt voor elkaar) and Anita Boele with giving me access to the databases of citizens' initiatives that were used in my research.

I also want to thank Stefan Soeparman who helped my find this internship and whose encouragement helped me to keep trying my best.

Additionally as every sociologist should, I want to thank all my weak ties that have given me strength in this period. Your support was like a bridge that helped me cross into the next phase in life.

Lastly I want to thank my parents and my sister for listening to my stories about the internship and writing a thesis and the struggles that come with it. For the mental support during the whole process of writing a thesis and for motivating me. This helped me to successfully finish this thesis.

Utrecht, June 2017

Summary

In this study we identified the geographical distribution of citizens initiatives in care and welfare. We found that there are three areas where the presence of citizens initiatives in care and welfare is higher. These areas are:

- Urban/semi-urban communities in Randstad
- Non-urban communities in northern Limburg and eastern Noord-Brabant
- Northern and eastern parts of the province of Groningen

There are two provinces where (almost) no citizens initiatives exist Flevoland where none are present and Zeeland where only one is active.

We found only a few relationships that might explain this distribution although more research is needed to come to a more complete answer. In general citizens initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present in areas where the distance to the hospital has decreased, this is especially the case with rural areas where also a small decrease has a relationship with the presence of citizens initiatives. Furthermore citizens initiatives are more likely to be present in more populous areas and less likely to be found in semi-rural areas. In urban/semiurban areas a higher social economic status in an area is related with a higher change for the presence of citizens initiatives in care and welfare.

Because of this we recommend that policy makers are aware that there is not yet scientific proof on what influences the emergence of citizens initiatives in care and welfare and that "common-sense" factors like education level and social capital appear to not have any relation with the emergence of citizens initiatives in care and welfare. It is important to recognize that the influence policy makers have on the emergence of citizens initiatives might be limited and that more scientific is needed to uncover other factors that do have a relation with the presence of citizens initiatives in care and welfare.

Citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are a phenomenon that is, according to earlier research, becoming increasingly popular in the Netherlands and Europe. While this phenomenon, local and collective actions by citizens to provide care and welfare in their local community, has the interest of researchers there is little research that uses quantitative statistical methods to study it.

The goal of this study is to use quantitative statistical methods to gain more knowledge about the nature of this phenomenon while also looking at the geographical dimension which has to our knowledge not been looked at this extensively before in research about citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands. The main question we want to answer in this research is "What is the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands distribution be explained?" additionally we want to answer a policy advise question: "How can policy makers of public and private institutions stimulate citizens' initiatives?".

To answer this question firstly an inventory of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare has been done based on two databases of initiatives of earlier research and an additional search strategy. Based on this inventory firstly the distribution of citizens' initiatives was mapped using Tableau and the clustering of the initiatives was investigated using a statistical method to calculate a measurement for clustering, Moran's I. Secondly multiple hypotheses were tested with data from CBS, WoOn and SCP by using a multilevel analysis on three levels, province, municipality and postal code area both in general and stratified according to urbanity level.

Table of Contents

Preface	3
Summary	4
Table of Contents	6
1. Introduction	8
1.1 Goal	9
1.2 Research questions	9
1.3 Empirical strategy	. 10
1.4 Scientific relevance	. 10
1.5 Societal relevance	. 10
1.6 Thesis outline	. 11
2. Theory	. 12
2.1 Background	. 12
2.2 Overarching theory	. 15
2.2.1 General theory of behavior	. 15
2.2.2 Theory of behavioral choices	. 16
2.2.3 Theory of cooperation	. 16
2.2.4 Summary of overarching theory	. 18
2.3 Theoretical basis for hypotheses	. 18
2.3.1Feelings of necessity	. 20
2.3.2 Capacity	. 23
2.3.3 Models of action	. 26
3. Methods	. 29
3.1 Data	. 29
3.1.1 Citizens initiatives	. 29
3.1.2 Geographical scale	. 32
3.1.3 Data to test the hypotheses	. 32
4. Results	. 40
4.1 Geographical distribution of citizens initiatives	. 40
4.2 Explaining the spatial distribution of citizens initiatives	. 46
5. Conclusion & Discussion	. 52
5.1 Answering the central questions	. 52
5.1.1 Descriptive question	. 52
5.1.2 Explanatory question	. 53

	5.2.1 Validity	55
	5.2.2 Limitations	56
	5.2.3 Further research	56
6. Po	plicy advice	58
7. Li	terature	59
8. A	pendix	65

1. Introduction

"The classic welfare state is slowly but surely changing into a participation society. Everyone who is able will be asked to take responsibility for his or her own life and surroundings" (Willem-Alexander Koning der Nederlanden, 2013)

The quote above is from the "Troonrede" in 2013, a speech by the Dutch monarch on the third Tuesday of September in which the monarch reviews what happened the last year in the Netherlands and the rest of the world and in which the intended policy of the cabinet for the next year is presented. The central word in this quote is participation society, the word of 2013 and indicative of the political and societal view of the cabinet regarding the role of citizens in society. Although the word has a longer history, being used as early as 1991 by Wim Kok as a new form of society that is replacing the classic welfare state (Passages uit toespraak van partijleider Kok, 1991) it gained prominence only after the "Troonrede" of 2013. The word has now become part of the collective vocabulary. In this participation society citizens are supposed to have more responsibility to form their own future and contribute to society. While the term participation society started only to be used more in 2013 the societal trends that led to the popularization of the word started earlier. Trends like globalization, individualization and easier access to information due to internet, changed the role of the citizen in society and the relationship of citizen and government. Citizens are no longer content sitting idly by while waiting for the state to fix their problems, partly because decreasing trust in the government and politics (Hendriks, 2009) and partly because of cuts in the healthcare budgets. They actively engage with policy and give their opinions on it (Van Buuren & Edelenbos, 2008). In the contemporary political climate citizens are encouraged to participate and active citizen participation increasingly is seen as an essential factor in policy (Bruijn & De Graaf, 2012; Van Rijn 2015). The Netherlands does not stand in the idea that the welfare state in its current form is no longer sustainable and that active citizenship is important in today's society. In the United Kingdom a related political idea was formed by the conservative government of David Cameron which was named Big Society. In this plan own responsibility, citizens caring for one another and active citizenship were stressed, showing many parallels with the ideas of the participation society. Here also if there are local issues, citizens are expected to take care of these issues themselves instead of waiting for the state to intervene (Johnson & Pattie, 2011).

Against this political background it is not surprising that there is more interest in "citizens' initiatives", citizens taking action on their own accord for a certain (societal) goal without direct instruction of the government (the full definition of citizens' initiatives will be given later in this thesis). This is one of the ways active citizens can put their active citizenship into practice, working together with others to reach their desired goals. There are many different forms of citizens' initiatives in the Netherlands that provide services like: (green) energy, insurances, public services like supermarkets, libraries or crèches and care and welfare.

In this thesis the focus is on citizens' initiatives in care and welfare. The field of care and welfare is in shift in the Netherlands since the decentralization of care in 2007. The "Social support act" (*Wet Maatschappelijke Ondersteuning* in Dutch) put the responsibility of

many of the care tasks in the hands of municipalities instead of the national government. Care providers, researchers and professionals have voiced their concerns about the plans expecting that not all municipalities will have the capacity to provide good care to their citizens (Van Cadsand et al., 2011). Disturbing the balance between the four providers of care namely: state, professionals, family and market (Knijn, 2004) or the paradoxical nature of much of the political decision making surrounding this topic are likely to lead to unforeseen consequences or policy that does not work (Dijkhoff, 2014). Dijkhoff (2014) names a few problems with the policy which he calls the "decentralization paradox". An example of a paradox he sees is: on the one hand municipalities are supposed to have more knowledge about the preferences and needs of their citizens and therefore are assumed to be better able to provide tailor-made care but on the other hand the national government wants to merge smaller municipalities to upscale operations and realize cost efficiency which would lead to an increase in the size of municipalities increasing the supposed distance between policy makers and citizens. Another paradox he sees is the clash between the call by the national government for tailor-made policy of municipalities based on local context and the value of equal treatment of all. The tailor-made policies based on local context by definition create a situation where people in different municipalities are treated differently but this is unavoidable if you want local solutions and it is thus impossible to satisfy both conditions at the same time.

Active citizen participation in the form of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare could be a way in which communities can provide better care and welfare in their area and to counteract problems that might arise from these policy changes and is thus a subject that deserves attention because the provision of care and welfare is an important topic both in the scientific community and with policy makers. Despite this there is little scientific research that studies this phenomenon on a national scale, mostly previous was based on the study of a few examples. To gain better understanding of this phenomenon citizens' initiatives in care and welfare will be studied. The goals of this study will be explained in more depth in the next section.

1.1 Goal

The aim of this research is to give insight into citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in today's society, describing their geographical distribution and explaining this distribution. To reach this goal quantitative research will be done based on theories in the fields of sociology, organizational science, psychology and geography. This research aims to increase the understanding of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare and provide policy makers and citizens with the knowledge to create, maintain and support citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in a better way.

1.2 Research questions

Three questions will be central in this research. Firstly a descriptive question will be answered as this can give insight into the nature and extent of the phenomenon citizens' initiative in the Netherlands. The first question is as follows:

"What is the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands?".

The answer of the descriptive question will be the basis for the explanatory question of the research. This question will be as follows:

"How can the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands be explained?".

When these two questions are answered the results of this research will be used to formulate an answer to the policy question:

"How can policy makers of public and private institutions stimulate citizens' initiatives in care and welfare?".

1.3 Empirical strategy

To answer these questions a quantitative research will be conducted. First the descriptive question will be answered using data on citizens initiatives in care and welfare of two earlier inventories by Vilans and Utrecht University. This data will be used to identify the geographical distribution of citizens initiatives in the Netherlands. Secondly an ecological study will be undertaken using a multilevel analysis that will be done to identify factors that can explain the found geographical distribution of citizens initiatives.

1.4 Scientific relevance

Even though citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands have received a fair amount of attention in scientific circles there has to our knowledge never been a quantitative analysis of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare. Most research that has been done has been either qualitative research where interviews with leaders, members and other stakeholders of citizens' initiatives are used as basis for research (Van Beest, 2014; Dictus, 2013; Baetens 2013) or meta/descriptive research that bases itself on earlier research to come to conclusions (Bokhorst, 2015; Bouwmans & Swinkels 2015; Van Xanten et al. 2011).With the use of quantitative data the aim is to come with conclusions that are generalizable instead of an illustration of (part of) the phenomenon. Earlier research has given little attention to geographical factors that might influence the emergence and preservation of citizens' initiatives, this research adds this dimension to the existing literature.

This study fits in the sociological tradition because it touches on a central theme of sociology: cohesion. Cohesion is an important theme in this study because cooperation between individuals to reach shared goals is both a manifestation of cohesion and also cannot come about without a minimum level of cohesion. Without cohesion people don't trust each other enough to work together.

1.5 Societal relevance

As mentioned before in this chapter, Dutch politicians, non-governmental organizations and commercial organizations are increasingly positive about active citizenship and citizens' initiatives. Despite this there is little policy or other plans on citizens' initiatives in care and welfare and how these initiatives could be supported. Third parties, those aforementioned and others could most likely play a role in facilitating citizens' initiatives and increasing the chance that an initiative will succeed in their municipality (Turnhout et al. 2016). To make it easier for policy makers, other politicians and organizations to provide a facilitating role for

citizens' initiatives in care and welfare it is important to identify which factors play a role in the emergence and success of these citizens' initiatives. The identification of success factors is crucial for a successful implementation of (municipal) policies that facilitate citizens' initiatives. Many citizens' initiatives are hindered by existing policies and sometimes policies can even have a reverse effect (Turnhout et al. 2016; Baetens, 2013; Peeters & Drosterij 2011;Oude Vrielink & Verhoeven, 2011). This study hopes to identify these factors and thereby help interested policymakers make better policies.

1.6 Thesis outline

The outline of this thesis is as follows. In chapter 2, the theory and hypothesis chapter, scientific research about citizens cooperation, citizens' initiatives and civil society will be discussed. First a background of citizens' initiatives will be given and previous research on this topic will be discussed. Then a general framework theory will be discussed which will give the assumptions on human behavior and cooperation that will be the basis for this research. Previous research combined with the assumptions that followed from the general framework theory will then be used to identify factors that might influence the distribution of citizens' initiatives in the Netherlands and hypotheses will be formulated based on this. Chapter 3 is about the methods of research. In this chapter we will explain how the research will be conducted, how different terms will be operationalized, how the hypotheses will be tested and which data will be used to test these. Chapter 4 is the results chapter in which the results of my research will be presented. In chapter 5 conclusions will be drawn from these results and the research questions will be answered. Additionally strong points and limitations of this research will be discussed and recommendations for further research will be made. In chapter 6 policy advise will be given on how policy makers can use the insight gained from this study to stimulate citizens' initiatives in their communities.

2. Theory

2.1 Background

In this chapter a context for the emergence of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare will be given. First we will sketch the influence that the political climate in the Netherlands has had on the emergence of citizens' initiatives. Afterwards we will define precisely what a citizens' initiative in care and welfare is and lastly we will give a quick overview of the international situation with regard to citizens' initiatives.

The idea that the social network and the community should be more responsible for care and welfare has taken hold in Dutch politics and is lead down in legislation, like the Participation act and Social support act (van Rijn, 2016). The political climate of the governing parties is one that supports the idea of a smaller central state (Bruijn & De Graaf, 2012). Therefore the government decentralized a lot of responsibilities with regards to care and welfare to municipalities. This decentralization was done for many reasons. One of them is that care is considered best when it is tailor-made because it increases the quality and although not specifically stated in policy documents, reduces costs (van Rijn, 2015).

Amidst of all these changes in the policy of care and welfare a new type of organization has entered the Dutch care and welfare landscape. It is providing care and welfare in a different way compared to "traditional" professional care institutions. This organization type is called "care cooperative" or "citizens' initiative" in societal, political and scientific discourse in the Netherlands. In this study the term citizens' initiative (in care and welfare) will be used because it does not limit itself to one (legal) form of organization (cooperatives) or gives the impression that only cooperatives in their legal form will be studied. This allows for a broader research of the available initiatives without excluding organizations that are functionally equivalent, but do not use the specific organizational form of the cooperation. It also allows for the easier use of international literature on cooperative-like organizations that differ from the organizations in the Netherlands because differing laws and cultures shape organizations to be different but doing comparable things.

In the Netherlands there are many different forms of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare but they share a core identity. Citizens' initiatives are defined by the European confederation of industrial and service cooperatives (CECOP) as: *organizations that are established by a group of citizens with the goal to reach a certain societal goal for the community in which they operate and are not focused on making profit* (Spear, 2009). In most cases the organization is democratic with voting power not based on capital (shareholders) but on membership. However this is not the case in every citizens' initiative. Furthermore a big share of the work in the initiative is based on volunteers instead of paid employees (Spear, 2009).The definition of Spear (2009) is not recognized by all and has no official status. The emergence of citizens' initiatives is relatively new and the initiatives often have countryspecific features, making a general definition that is useable in every country and that is also specific more difficult to give. Furthermore there is a lack of international comparative research into the phenomenon of citizens' initiatives. Most research focuses on domestic initiatives. But despite this, the definition that is given includes many of the characteristics given in Dutch research into this topic, sharing the emphasis on the local focus of initiatives, the fact that initiatives are started by citizens to reach certain social goals and the non-profit nature.

The two Dutch inventories that we use in our study have similar definitions of citizens' initiatives. The research done by Utrecht University and Institutions for Collective action by Professor Tine the Moor and colleagues defined citizens' initiatives in care and welfare (or as they called them in earlier inventories: "care cooperatives") not in clear terms. When we dig deeper in the publication on which most other inventories are based (Van Beest, 2014) we can infer the following characteristics:

- Initiatives are started and led by citizens
- Initiatives are focused on local and collective actions
- Initiatives are not started out of entrepreneurial spirit or to make (individual) profit but to benefit the community

The researchers at Vilans that started doing inventories of citizens' initiatives in 2014 have defined citizens' initiatives in care and welfare as follows:

- Initiatives that are undertaken by citizens as opposed to (social) entrepreneurs or professional organizations
- Initiatives that focus on care and/or welfare
- Initiatives that have a local focus where local citizens focus on local issues

Care and welfare provision is defined in very broad terms in accordance to the definition of Tronto (1993) of care. They are all actions that lead to better health and welfare for the targeted individual or community. It is not restricted to nursing and providing healthcare but also other actions that provide welfare and health to individuals, like the provision of good and healthy food, social activities and social support.

We combine these two definitions together to come to the following definition for citizens' initiatives in care and welfare: *organizations that are established by a group of citizens with the goal to provide actions that increase the health and/or welfare within the (local) community in which the organization operates and not focused on making a profit.*

This definition will be the one used in this study as well.

Internationally citizens' initiatives in care and welfare have taken many forms based on national culture and regulations. It falls outside the scope of this study to discuss the forms citizens' initiatives take in different countries. However the emergence/resurgence of organizations that share common features with citizens' initiatives in the Netherlands, is also occurring in other western countries. In some countries it in fact happened much earlier than in the Netherlands (Thomas, 2004; Borzaga et al. 2014).

Italy is one of the earliest examples of a country where in modern times a lot of citizens' initiatives have started. They provide a significant amount of the care and welfare in the country. In Italy citizens' initiatives take another legal form and are much more formally

defined than in the Netherlands. They are limited liability joint-stock companies instead of associations but they still adhere to the definition of Spear and Vilans/UU that were stated above. They are called social cooperatives in the international literature. Italy adopted legislation that recognized an organizational type that engaged in the creation of benefit for individuals in communities and helped with integration of disadvantaged groups in society (Thomas, 2004). Social cooperative were thriving partly because of this official recognition by lawand partly because of societal factors within Italy, such as a weak state that did not provide services for the common good the way people wanted it. The social cooperatives were able to grow into an important part of the Italian society providing a significant amount of people with care and welfare (van Opstal, 2011; Thomas, 2004). Geographically speaking cooperatives in the north are more plentiful and successful in the north of the country compared to middle and south Italy and cooperatives on the Italian islands (Carini et al, 2012). This difference is not explored beyond mere observation and any explanation for this difference is speculation. But it might have to do with the lower levels of social trust and civic engagement in the south, a factor that was identified by Putnam et al. (1994) as one of the reasons why institutional performance is lower in the south and central parts of Italy.

In the UK the dominant term for initiatives that are most similar to citizens' initiatives in care and welfare is the social enterprise. This label, just like is the case with citizens' initiatives, is very broad and the organizations that fall under it are very diverse. Typically they are organizations that use their business and revenues to fulfill their missions which are most often social or environmental in nature. While not entirely the same phenomenon as citizens' initiatives in the Netherlands and not fitting in the definition as given by Vilans, they share a lot of features like reliance on voluntary work, engagement of the community in or by the project, striving for a goal that benefits the (local) society as a whole. So while social enterprises are excluded from the inventory in the Netherlands they can give an insight in the way the development of a similar phenomenon has taken place and is taking place in another country. In research on social enterprises it is suggested that while individual vision and leadership are important social factors and the context in which people operate is also important in understanding why organizations emerge (Buckingham, Pinch & Sunly, 2010; Seanor and Meaton, 2007)."These [social] firms are rarely the product of the lone actions of a single 'heroic' individual'' (Amin, 2009 as cited in Buckingham et al. 2010). While some research has been done on the geographic distribution of social enterprises in the UK all this research has been based on case studies (Buckingham, et al. 2010). In one influential study, Amin (2002) identified six factors that influence the emergence and success of social enterprises, but these factors were not based on any statistical research or other quantitative evidence. Buckingham et al. (2010) rectify the lacuna in the research on geographical factors that influence success and emergence of social enterprise. They used existing data to examine regional differences with regards to the presence of social enterprises similar to the method of this study. They provided an overview of the distribution of social enterprises in the UK but did not try to explain this. They concluded that while some (small) regional differences seem to be present, differences are generally not statistically significant. They conclude that social enterprises seem to be fairly evenly distributed over the UK although, because of the lack of quality and detailed data, it is hard to say for sure.

2.2 Overarching theory

In this section we aim to give an overarching theory that sets the framework for this thesis and from which hypotheses can be derived. This overarching theory will be a combination of three theoretical approaches. In figure 2.1 a schematic picture of this combination is given. This section consists of four sub-sections. In the first sub-section we will start very broad and give a theory about human behavior in general that explains what basic motivations for human behavior are. After that we will give a more specific theory on why people choose certain behavior over others and what their goals are. Thirdly, we will explain why and when this behavior might lead to cooperation between people. Cooperation that can take the form of a citizens' initiative. This way first broad ideas about human behavior will be discussed and gradually it will become more and more specific to the case of citizens' initiatives. Lastly we will conclude with the findings of this section and how they will be applied in the rest of the study.





2.2.1 General theory of behavior

When researching human behavior it is important to specify what kind of view of human nature is held. This view determines in part what behavior is expected given certain situations. In this study we follow the view of human nature of Alfred Adler.

Adler argues that human behavior is goal-oriented and that people strive for success(Adler, 1927). The notion that human behavior is goal oriented gives a direction to go in while trying to answer the explanatory question of this paper: "*How can the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands be explained?*". Citizens' initiatives can be seen as a collection of individuals that behave in a certain way to reach a goal. This notion opens new questions that can further the understanding of this specific kind of behavior. What goals do individuals want to achieve and when does this take the form of a citizens' initiative? These questions will be discussed in the next two sections.

2.2.2 Theory of behavioral choices

In the previous section it was established that individuals are goal-directed. The next question is then: what goals do individuals strive to achieve? This question will be the focus of this section because Adlers idea cannot adequately answer this question.

A theory in the sociology that explains what goals individuals strive to achieve is the social production function theory of Lindenberg (1986; 1991) which he presented in a more complete form with Frey (Lindenberg & Frey, 1993). This theory poses that individuals produce their own well-being by striving towards two universal goals: physical well-being and social well-being. The way individuals try to achieve these goals depends on what resources and constraints they face while striving for well-being. The two universal goals, physical well-being and social well-being, are broken up into respectively two and three first order goals that are needed to reach the universal goals. Physical well-being can be broken up into comfort and stimulation. Comfort is the absence of negative physical phenomena like thirst, hunger and pain. Stimulation is pleasant physical feeling like sensory and mental stimulation and physical effort. Social well-being can be broken up into status, behavioral confirmation and affection. Status is the relative ranking (on relevant criteria) compared with other individuals. Behavioral confirmation is positive feedback of other people on certain behavior that fit into the norms and values of others. Affection is love, friendship and support by other people. The goals in the Social Production Function (SPF) theory are hierarchically ordered. With the ultimate goals at the top, instrumental goals in the middle levels and activities and resources that are needed to successfully reach those goals at the lower levels. Lindenberg poses that, to a certain extent, lack of well-being in one category can be substituted by extra wellbeing in another one although for universal and higher level instrumental goals a minimum amount of well-being in all categories is need for good overall well-being. Furthermore physical well-being is harder to substitute with social well-being and vice-versa. If certain goals are easier to achieve then others individuals will prefer to pursue these instead of others that are harder to achieve (if they have at least a base amount of wellbeing in all categories). Multifunctional activities that achieve multiple goals at once are the most efficient way to achieve overall wellbeing (Ormel et al. 1996) and thus are highly beneficial for individuals to undertake.

2.2.3 Theory of cooperation

In the last two sections it was established that individuals are goal directed and that they strive to reach a certain level of physical and social well-being. There are many different ways to reach this goal and in this section we will look when this goal directed behavior might take the form of cooperation between people based on theories from the field of economic sociology.

We chose economic sociology to be the guide to explain how goal directed behavior can lead to cooperation because in a short review we found problems with the explanation of other fields of social science. Evolutionary psychology is unusable because evolutional forces that shape cooperation do not differ from person to person and thus are not relevant when trying to explain differences between different communities. Classic economic and sociological theories are problematic because they either under socialize (economics) or over socialize (sociology) behavior. Granovetter too recognized the problems in the two extremes of the spectrum and posed that: "Actors do not behave or decide as atoms outside a social context, nor do they adhere slavishly to a script written for them by the particular intersection of social categories that they happen to occupy" (Granovetter, 1985).

Economic sociologists assume that people will not always work together well because in some situations individuals profit from behaving in a selfish way and not cooperating. According to Raub and Weesie (2000) situations like this, which they call social dilemmas, can be influenced by the embeddedness of individuals in social structures (family, communities, their workplace, etc.), where embeddedness leads to cooperation despite the lower (short term) individual profits. They distinguish three forms of embeddedness namely embedding in time, institutions and social networks.

Firstly embedding in time means that individuals not only value the merits of a transaction (here broadly defined as all actions that are a trade-off between two or more parties with both costs and benefits for them) in the present but also possible future transactions with others. This is the reason that individuals will sometimes cooperate even though pure selfish actions would give them more profit in the short run. They do this because they are afraid of sanctioning by the other individual or group and losing out on valuable future outcomes. In this context the norm of reciprocity is important. This norm is shared by most individuals and basically means that individuals should repay in kind what another individual has done for them both positively and negatively. This norm thus gives an incentive to individuals to be "nice" and cooperate with others. Because a good deed will be repaid while failure to do a good deed risks a negative response. This norm works best under three conditions:

- Homogeneity, because shared norms, values, habits, etc. makes cooperation easier
- Small group, because it makes it easier to spot non-cooperating behavior and sanction it.
- Low fluctuation of membership, because it increases the possible time of interaction (shadow of the future) and thus the cost of non-cooperation.

Secondly embedding in institutions comes into play in situations where the norm of reciprocity works less well. These are situations where groups are: complex, heterogeneous, larger and have fluctuating membership. These conditions make it harder to detect deviation from the norm of reciprocity and thus harder to punish non-cooperators for their norm deviating behavior while also making it less certain or likely that good cooperative deeds will be repaid in kind. Because of these two reasons the norm of reciprocity loses its strength because the chance of being punished for selfish behavior is lower while the chance of being rewarded for cooperative behavior is also lowered. A solution for this is to embed social interactions in formal and informal rules that add rewards for cooperation and punish non-cooperation. This way self-interest will be better aligned with the group interest and cooperation will emerge more often. Examples of this can are: associations and religious institutions.

Lastly embedding in social networks plays a role. Individuals are not alone in the world but they are part of social networks of family, friends, co-workers, neighbors, acquaintances and other people which they might not know very well but with which they interact or have interacted in the past. This social network has two functions that stimulate cooperation trough reputation. Firstly cooperation is stimulated because of the information function of social networks, through social networks individuals can learn about the cooperativeness of others. This way they can find people that have a reputation for their willingness to cooperate and also avoid people with a reputation of selfish and non-cooperative behavior (DiMaggio & Louch, 1998). Additionally cooperation is stimulated by the control function of social networks, through social networks non-cooperating actors can be sanctioned.

2.2.4 Summary of overarching theory

So summarizing the past three sections gives the following view of human behavior and cooperation:

- Behavior of humans is goal-directed and boundedly rational
- Humans strive for overall wellbeing by ensuring physical and social well-being and their instrumental goals: comfort, stimulation, status, behavioral confirmation and affection
- Humans need a bare minimum of all instrumental goals for overall well-being but above that minimum can substitute a lack of one goal with additional well-being in another goal although physical well-being and social well-being are harder to substitute with each other
- Humans have agency to make their own decisions based on their bounded rational view of the world but they are also embedded in social structures that determine their behavior
- This embeddedness can help solve social dilemma's (situations where it would be better for short term profit of an individual to not cooperate with others) and increase cooperation

Based on these overarching theoretical conclusions hypotheses will be formulated in the next few sections.

2.3 Theoretical basis for hypotheses

In this section the theoretical basis for hypotheses will be given and hypotheses will be formulated. The conceptual model that is used can be found below. More detailed explanations that focus on one of the three main influencers of the existence of a citizens' initiative (feelings of necessity, capacity and models of action) can be found in their own sections but first a short explanation of the model will be given.



Figure 2.2 - Conceptual model of theoretical basis

This model shows the basis for the hypotheses that will be formulated in the coming sections. The models has two levels: the level of the individuals (micro) and the level of communities (macro). Because we only have data on the community (macro) level we can only test the relations on community (macro) level. The relations on individual (micro) level are based on assumptions which are based on theory but will not be tested.

The model has two parts: the first part, in the black frame, shows how according to theory the feelings of necessity come about. The arising of a care vacuum on a community (macro) level leads to an increase in awareness of an unwanted situation and the feeling of a necessity for change on an individual level (micro level). A care vacuum is a situation in which both the government (national or otherwise) and market (private parties) can't provide health and welfare in a way that fits with the wishes of members of the community. This relates to the social production function of Lindenberg because that states that people strive for overall wellbeing and will, if the conditions to achieve wellbeing are poor, experience this as negative try to find way to improve these conditions. When a situation arise (like a care vacuum) in which their instrumental goals for welfare are endangered people will be more likely to act and try to improve their situation. When enough people in a community share this feeling this can aggregate to a shared awareness of an unwanted situation and necessity for change on a community (macro) level. It falls outside of the scope of this research to quantify how much exactly enough people is. This shared feeling is pivotal for the existence of citizens' initiatives in a community. This links to the idea of economic sociology that peoples actions are influenced by the social structures they are embedded in. When people in a community have a feeling of necessity for change this will influence others in the same social structure. This shared feeling is not enough however.

Here is where the second part of the model (outside of the black frame) is important. Communities also need to have the capacity on a communal (macro) level to employ such initiatives and they need examples or experience with ways in which their actions can take shape in short called models of action. These models of action make them more likely to choose to canalize their shared feeling of necessity and their capacity for action into the specific form of a citizens' initiative instead of another form of action.

In the coming sections an explanation of these concepts will be given.

2.3.1Feelings of necessity

Before people go out and tackle problems enough people in a community need to have a feeling of necessity to take action. There needs to be at least a perception of a necessity to take action, as a famous sociological theorem goes: *"If men define situations as real, they are real in their consequences"* (Thomas & Thomas, 1928). This is the case because people act in accordance with their perception of the situation which may dilate the true situation.

This feeling of necessity is felt by individuals. This micro level feeling of necessity for action is influenced by macro level conditions that can make a feeling of necessity for action higher or lower.

One of the situations that can heighten the feeling of necessity for action is when a healthcare and welfare vacuum, care vacuum for short, arises in a community.

When a care vacuum (a macro condition) arises one of the consequences can be that individuals recognize this vacuum and see this as an unwanted situation. They feel that their overall wellbeing is threatened by this vacuum as care and welfare are closely related to instrumental goals of overall wellbeing as stated in the social production function theory of Lindenberg (see 2.2.2). Because they see the current situation as unwanted they feel that the situation needs to be changed and their feeling of necessity for action is heightened. If enough people in a community have, at an individual (micro) level, the feeling that change is needed this aggregates towards a precondition for collective (macro level) action in a community. Other preconditions will be discussed in the next section. The felt necessity by enough people in the community is a *sine qua non* for the emergence of a citizens' initiative because as said earlier in this chapter, humans do not change the way they do things, the status quo, unless they have a good reason (Bourdieu, 1985). As the feeling of need for action by individuals and the aggregate of this feeling on a community level is an important reason for the emergence of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare and the existence of a care vacuum heightens the feeling of need for action in individuals we pose the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 1.1: In communities where a care vacuum exists, citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

A care vacuum can arise for different reasons. We distinguish these reasons and formulate hypotheses about them.

Firstly, increased demand for certain services can lead to a care vacuum because the original supply of care and welfare in an area is no longer enough to satisfy the new (increased) demand for care and welfare. This will lead to a situation where some people do not receive the quality and/or quantity of care and welfare that they need and want. Examples of this would be an aging population leading to more demand for elderly care without the supply of extra elderly care by government or market or an increase in chronic illness due to aging or other factors leading to more demand for care without extra supply from government or market.

Hypothesis 1.1.1: In communities where there is an increased demand for careand/or welfare citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

Secondly, decreased supply of (health)care or welfare services can also lead to a care vacuum. This causes a situation where some people do not receive the care and/or welfare that they want and/or need. This decrease in supply can be the result of multiple factors. Budgetary cuts of the government, a redefined responsibility towards care and welfare delivery of the government, and budget cuts by private providers are a few. All these reasons can cause shortages in care and welfare provision and they can also increase the distance people have to travel to receive their care and welfare because the provision of these services decreases in their area and people have to go to larger towns and cities in their vicinity to get the services.

Hypothesis 1.1.2: In communities where there is an decreased supply for care and/or welfare citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

Lastly a lack of fitting care and welfare provision can cause a care vacuum. In this situation there is enough care and welfare provision available in the area but the services that are available do not fit with the (new) population of this area. This mismatch of supply and demand can be caused by diverse preferences from a population that is heterogeneous and thus has differing whishes regarding care and welfare provision. Heterogeneity can be caused in a variety of ways some of which are: ethnic diversity due to migration and income heterogeneity due to an increasing gap between rich and poor.

Theoretical hypothesis 1.1.3: In communities where the preferences for care and/or welfare provision are more diverse, citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

Empirical hypotheses

The theoretical hypotheses posed in the previous section are very broadly formulated to give a broad perspective on the causes of care vacuums and as a consequence of those, the feeling of necessity for action in a community and ultimately the presence of citizens' initiatives. These hypotheses are in this form hard to test. They will be operationalized by variables that indicate the concepts of the theoretical hypotheses, demand, supply and diverse preferences for care.

There are two concepts that influence the demand for care: percentage of chronically ill people and percentage of people above the age of 75. Chronically ill people and people above the age of 75 on average need more (health)care than the general public and they need it for a longer time because both "conditions" will not disappear. This increased demand for care can cause a care vacuum (if the demand is not met with adequate supply) and set in motion the scenario that is sketched in the conceptual model. This leads to the following empirical hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1.2.1: In communities with a higher percentage of chronically ill people citizens, initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

Hypothesis 1.2.2: In communities with a higher percentage of people above the age of 75, citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

Four concepts will be used that influence the supply of care. These variables are distance to healthcare services, change in distance to healthcare services, distance to general services, and change in distance to general services. Healthcare services are services like a general practitioners office or hospital and general services are services like a grocery store or library. The current situation gives an idea about the actual supply of healthcare in an area and the ease with which people in a community can access the services. This is important because when people experience difficulty to access the healthcare services they want/need, a care vacuum can arise and with it a feeling of need to change the current situation. The feeling of need can also arise when general (public) services, like schools, stores and libraries, are lacking in a community. The change in distance to care and general services is important because it gives an idea of the change in supply of care and general services. When care services disappear this can lead to a care vacuum because proper care can no longer be provided in this community itself. Traveling to healthcare services can be difficult, especially for vulnerable people that need it the most, so this aggravates the problem (De Vries et al, 2017). When general services disappear, this often triggers a strong reaction from citizens. This can be stronger than one would expect when considering the objective worth of the service or the level of services still present in a community because people are particularly loss averse (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992). This response can be a catalyst for action both to save/replace general services and start services in the sphere of care and welfare. As stated in earlier sections the perception of a situation is very important and the perception of a bad service supply can cause feelings of necessity to arise even if the absolute numbers of the current service supply are still good compared to the average. Considering this we formulate these hypotheses regarding supply and presence of citizens' initiatives:

Hypothesis 1.2.3: In communities where the distance to healthcare services is higher citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

Hypothesis 1.2.4: In communities where the distance to general services is higher citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

Hypothesis 1.2.5: In communities where the distance to healthcare services has increased over the years citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

Hypothesis 1.2.6: In communities where the distance to general services has increased over the years citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

For the diverse preferences hypothesis one concept will be used: the percentage of people with a migration background in an area. People with a migration background have other preferences compared to the population without one. This is the case for both western (Heikkilä & Ekman, 2003; Galanti, 2014) and non-western people with a migration background (De Wit et al. 2002; Galanti, 2014).

Hypothesis 1.2.7: In communities with a higher percentage of people with a migration background citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

2.3.2 Capacity

As said in the beginning of section 2.3 a need for action, in this case the feeling of necessity because of a care vacuum, is not enough on its own to cause action to happen. Apart from a felt need for action people need to be able to act on this feeling, they need the capacity for action. In this section multiple factors will be discussed that influence this capacity for action in the community. While this capacity of the community (macro level) is often the aggregate of capacity on an individual (micro level) we will focus on macro level capacity because this kind of capacity is needed for communal action to arise.

Social capital

Social capital is important for the understanding of differences between communities in the emergence of citizens' initiatives because it heightens the capacity of communities to take action. Social capital has multiple definitions broadly divisible in two categories which we will name the relational definition and the group-level definition. Researchers like Lin (1999) and Burt (2000) using the relational definition define social capital along the lines of "access to and use of resources embedded in social networks". Researchers using the group-level definition like Putnam (1993) see social capital as 'features of social organizations, such as networks, norms and trust that facilitate action and cooperation for mutual benefit'. In this study the group level definition of social capital will be used because this definition is focused on community level variables that explain how and why action and cooperation arises in a community or society and because citizens' initiatives in care and welfare can be defined as a manifestation of action and cooperation within a community.

According to Putnam social capital consists of two components: the social networks of civic engagement (actions to address public issues) and shared norms (of reciprocity). The degree to which these components are present can influence the chance a citizens' initiative in care and welfare emerges. Putnam also points out that social trust, while not part of the definition of social capital, is certainly a close consequence, and therefore could be easily thought of as a proxy for social capital (Putnam, 2001). These components (and social trust) are important to facilitate cooperation and collective action within a community because they provide answers to fundamental obstacles of cooperation voiced by public choice theorists (Ellickson, 1991; Ostrom et al., 1993). The obstacles that are identified are:

- (high) Initial costs of (collective) action discouraging cooperation
- Lack of trust between group members leading to calculating behavior and free rider behavior
- High cost associated with interaction between members that lack trust in each other because a lot of time, energy and finances is spent on monitoring the other or making insurances to combat the calculating behavior and free riding of others

First of all, communities are more likely to engage in collective action because social sanctions, norms and interaction in social networks increases the likelihood that people want to work together with each other because they foster trust which makes people more likely to cooperate. Furthermore, when people in the community interact with each other they have the possibility to identify that they have the same goals as other people in the community and

they can come together to reach these goals. Without this knowledge they would not cooperate because they would not have known about the other people in the community that strive to reach the same goals.

Secondly, the trust that arises from social capital (trough repeated interaction and the knowledge that people share norms and values), influences whether or not people will want to share their resources with other people in the community. If individuals are not willing to share their resources, cooperation is unlikely to arise because cooperation always costs resources, like energy, time and finances, which benefit not only the individual that puts in the resources but also others. Social capital and the trust that arises from it leads to a situation where people will want to share their resources with other people in the community because they trust their 'investment' will be reciprocated somewhere down the line, if not from the person he or she helped then by another member of the community through generalized reciprocity (Baker & Buckley, 2014). Social capital also increases trust. This makes cooperation easier: the diffusion of knowledge and information becomes easier because individuals who trust each other are more willing to share knowledge and information. This makes cooperation easier because shared knowledge makes deliberation and collective action less prone to miscommunication and thus goals, means and methods can be communicated clearly.

Thirdly social capital reduces transaction and monitoring costs because mutual trust makes contracts, incurrences and legal services less necessary because both parties assume that the other party will not break their trust by acting according to self-interest. For this research this factor is less relevant because this mostly plays a role in economic transactions and most of the (small-scale) citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands have not a lot of significant economic transactions. This might change in the future if citizens' initiatives grow and become bigger organizations but presently it is not needed.

The previous leads to the following hypothesis on the effects of social capital on the presence of citizens' initiatives in communities.

Hypothesis 2.1: In communities with high levels of social capital, citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

These components are important for the specific case of citizens' initiatives because citizens' initiatives can be seen as a form of (social) cooperation: action and civic engagement aimed to create mutual benefit. In the literature one concept is mentioned as something that can disrupt social capital. A high rate of residential turnover, especially people moving out of the community. A high residential turnover disrupts existing relationships and weakens interpersonal ties and discourages investment in relationships (social capital) in one's neighborhood because the investment will not be worthwhile if the population is very unstable (Sampson et al. 1997; Freudenberg 1986). Furthermore high residential turnover can prevent a community to come to a shared feeling of necessity of action because the perspective on problems of new inhabitants may differ from the old inhabitants. Because of these reasons the following hypothesis is posed about the effects of residential turnover on the presence of citizens' initiatives:

Hypothesis 2.2: In communities with higher levels of residential turnover, citizens' initiatives are less likely to be present.

Collective efficacy

Collective efficacy was introduced by Sampson in 1997 with the meaning of: "social cohesion among neighbors combined with their willingness to intervene on behalf of the common good". Originally used to explain variations in the level of crime in different neighborhoods arguing that high collective efficacy would lead to lower crime levels. In this context collective efficacy is used as a variable that can help to suppress deviant behavior that is not in line with group norms. In his paper Sampson et al. (1997) stresses that collective efficacy can be used also to provide positive change instead of only suppressing negative change but this aspect is not studied further. We assume that this theory can also be used to explain the level of willingness in a community to contribute to a common good unrelated to crime such as a societal good like care for elderly and disabled and want to test this here.

Hypothesis 2.3: In communities with high levels of collective efficacy, citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

The capacity of a community to take action also depends on the availability of people that have the time and resources to act and feel the need to do so. One group that has both the time and resources to do so is people between the age of 65 and 75, "the younger elderly". Firstly in this age range many people lose resources and opportunities to fulfill well-being goals for several reasons: they become mostly inactive in the labor market (loss of opportunity for status acquisition) this happens after their pension at 65 (now 66/67), lose friends, family and partner (loss of opportunity for behavior confirmation and affection) and have more difficulty with physical activities (loss of opportunity for stimulation). To compensate individuals will look for a way to substitute the harder to attain goals with others and gain them from another source. A citizens' initiative might provide this. Leaders and volunteers in the citizens' initiatives can gain status from the work they do for the citizens' initiative. Working together with likeminded people to make the citizens' initiative a success can provide in behavior confirmation and affection. This links back to the social production theory of Lindenberg that sees the fulfillment of well-being goals as driving force behind human behavior and states that goals that are hard to reach will be substituted (where possible) by others.

Also very important is the fact that they not only have the feeling of necessity towards voluntary work (at citizens' initiatives) they also have the capacity to do the voluntary work especially when compared to people aged 75 years and older. Firstly the decline of mandatory activities like work and care for kids make it possible for more people in this age range to undertake other activities and earlier research seems to suggest that quite a significant group uses some of this time to perform voluntary work under which the running of citizens' initiatives also falls (Wilson, 2000). They perform voluntary work aimed at care more often than the general population although this is also true for the age range of 45 to 65 (Arends & Flöthe, 2015). Secondly they have the physical capacity to do the work. In the Netherlands the life expectancy without moderate or serious illness is around 71-73 years of age (Stoeldraijer et al. 2012). This leads to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 2.5: In communities where the percentage of people that are aged between 65 and 75 is higher, citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

Education level is also likely to influence the capacity of a community to take action and starting a citizens initiative. One of the reasons for this is that higher educated people are more likely to volunteer as both national (Arends & Flöthe, 2015) as international research has shown (Smith, 1994) among other things because, they have a higher level of empathy, are more self-confident (Brady et al 1995, Rosenthal et al 1998) and they have a higher sense of civic responsibility (Putnam, 1995). This higher level of volunteering will lead to a situation where it is easier to take action as a community because it is more likely that people will be willing to take part in this action.

Hypothesis 2.6: In communities where the percentage of people with higher education is higher, citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present.

We have now established that in order for communal action to take place a certain number of people in a community need to have a feeling of necessity for change because the current situation is perceived as unwanted. They need this feeling to consider challenging the status quo and take action to tackle the (perceived) unwanted situation. Furthermore there must be a certain level of capacity for action in the community so the felt need for change can be translated into (meaningful) action. In the next section we will talk about how models of action can influence the form this action takes and how it influences the ability to take action in a community.

2.3.3 Models of action

When people recognize a lack of (fitting) care and welfare in their community, they have different options to deal with this problem. They can go to the government for aid or complain about the fact that the problem exists, they can try to ignore the problem and but they can also take initiative themselves and try to tackle the problem. In the previous sections we identified some factors that might influence people to take initiative themselves but when they do take initiative this can take many forms. How do individuals and communities choose what form it will take? Below we will explain how the existence of one form of organization and solution to a problem (in this case a citizens' initiative) might lead others to adopt the same strategy and thus also start a citizens' initiative.

Organizations have many forms with differing rules, legal forms and statutes. Organizations do not exist in a vacuum, they interact with their environment and organizations around them. People aspiring to start an organization look around and share, take over or imitate ideas from each other (Aldrich, 1999). In fact one of the earlier and most well-known citizens' initiatives in the Netherlands, care cooperative Hoogeloon imitated its organizational form from a cooperative in Sweden and the care cooperative in Austerlitz in the Netherlands copied the organizational form and statutes from Hoogeloon (van Beest, 2014). When an organizational form is often used it is more likely to be copied because organizations strive for self-preservations and often used forms are (perceived as) being more successful at self-preservation (Aldrich, 1999). When looking for solutions people are more likely to see solutions they can copy that are used in areas geographically close to themselves because they

are more likely to know about them and are better able to collect enough information to copy them. This leads to a situation where people looking to create an organization are likely to copy successful examples and they are more likely to copy successful examples that are close instead of examples that are farther away. This is not to say that copying of organizational form does only occur locally (as we saw with Hoogeloon who went to Sweden) but as Tobler states: "everything is related to everything else, but near things are more related than distant things" (Tobler, 1970) so we argue that local action is more likely to be copied. This theory of diffusion of organizational forms leads us to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 3.1: In areas where other active citizens' initiatives are near, citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

Experience in a community in organizing themselves might also increase the likelihood of citizens' initiatives emerging in a community. One way to gain such experience is through voluntary associations. These associations can take many forms from sport and music clubs to book clubs and brass bands. If there are many kinds of these associations active in a community it will be more likely that a citizens' initiative will be established in the community (if the need is there) because of several reasons:

Firstly existing social ties formed through previous association can be used to more easily work together because trust and knowledge about each other make cooperation easier.

Secondly it fosters skills within the community that are helpful in the process of organizing communal cooperation and eventually citizens' initiatives like leadership, communication and organizational skills which makes establishing an organization like a citizens' initiative, which can be quite complex, possible.

Lastly and maybe most importantly it increases the likelihood that association in a citizens' initiative (or any cooperative action for that matter) is seen as a viable or natural option to solve the problems of a community. It increases the normalcy of communal cooperation and establishes it as a legitimate model of action for members of the community. We therefore hypothesize that:

Hypothesis 3.2: In communities where association density is higher, citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present.

Another factor that might influence the experience and legitimation of people in a community to start a citizens' initiatives is through a higher membership of religious groups in a community. The shared religious identity can play a role in the emergence of citizens' initiatives because it makes people more altruistic and prone to voluntary giving and prosocial behavior (Sharrif & Norrenzian, 2007; Bulbulia & Sosis 2011). This effect occurs even when people are not active in religious services or gatherings because the underlying philosophy of the religions primes them to display this behavior. While all religions have this priming the form it takes in a community is likely to differ between religions. Protestants are more likely to organize themselves in smaller exclusive groups compared to Catholics. This is because of their more strict ways of practicing their religion and higher level of theological exclusivity (Iannaconne 1994; Merino, 2010) This means that the emergence of citizens' initiatives is less likely in areas with big protestant communities because citizens' initiatives

are bigger associations meant for the whole community and not for small subsections. Because of the nature of the Islamic faith of the Netherlands it is mostly practiced by minority groups and migrants. These groups are more likely to organize in exclusive ways in their own community compared to Catholics and thus have a less positive effect on the presence on citizens' initiatives. This is because of the same reason as protestants namely the more strict practicing of religion and higher levels of theological exclusivity. This goes against the hypothesis 1.2.7 about migrant communities that expects that citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present in communities with people with migration background because their presence leads to more diverse preferences in the community. While the presence of these people with a migration background increases the necessity for action. The religion of a part of the people with a migration background (Islam) causes them to be more exclusionary then Catholics and this lowers the chance that religion will provide experience that stimulates collective action (in the form of a citizens' initiative) for the entire community. So this limits the effect of the presence of people with a migration background in a community on the presence of citizens' initiatives somewhat.

Hypothesis 3.3: In communities where the percentage of membership of religious groups is higher citizens' initiatives are more likely to be present, this is more the case for Catholics than for Protestants and Muslims.

3. Methods

In this chapter we will explain what methods, data and operationalization's will be used to produce the statistical results that will be presented in the following chapter.

Some hypotheses that were described in the theory section of this thesis cannot be tested with the data that is available at this moment. These hypotheses are:

• Hypothesis 1.2.1: about the effect of a higher percentage of chronically ill people

This hypothesis cannot be tested in this paper because we have no data on the percentage of chronically ill people on the levels of postal code area or municipality.

• Hypothesis 2.3: about the effect of higher levels of collective efficacy

This hypothesis cannot be tested because we have no data on the level of collective efficacy on the levels of postal code area or municipality that sufficiently differentiated collective efficacy from concepts like social capital and social cohesion.

• Hypothesis 3.2: about the effect of association density

This hypothesis cannot be tested because we have no data on association density on the level of postal code area or municipality.

3.1 Data

In this research two databases will be made and used for statistical analysis. A database with all citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in it and a database with data based on the locations (four digit postal codes) of these initiatives. First, in the next chapter, the methods for collecting the citizens initiatives data will be discussed. Then an explanation will be given about the geographical scale that is used to test the hypotheses. After that the operationalization and data collection for the data based on four digit postal codes will be discussed.

3.1.1 Citizens initiatives

The first database will be used to answer the descriptive question posed in the introduction. The first inventory was completed in August 2016 by Vilans and includes ~320 initiatives. The second inventory was completed in July 2016 by University of Utrecht's professor Tine de Moor who's area of research is institutions for collective action and includes ~240 initiatives. These inventories will be combined to come to one more complete database. Included in the database will be:

- Name of the initiative
- Location of the initiative (four digit postcode)
- Municipality of the initiative
- Province of the initiative
- Coordinates of the initiative (Longitude, Latitude)
- Phase the initiative is in (active, not active)

The database of Utrecht University and Institutions for Collective Action is based on two earlier inventories (Dictus, 2013; Van Beest, 2014) which were done in cooperation with the Aedes-Actiz Knowledge Center for Housing and Care, this knowledge center also used its website and social media accounts to ask initiatives to come forward. The search strategy of this inventory was shaped by publications from knowledge institute Movisie and interests groups like the association for *"kleine kernen"* (small rural communities), platform for care cooperative development and cooperation platform Eindhoven. Furthermore participant lists of symposia about care cooperation's) were used to find initiatives. The rest of the initiatives were found by searching the internet and using social media. National and especially local news was an important source of information. An internet search was undertaken using google, the exact search terms that were used are not documented. The definitions used by these studies are stated in chapter 2.1. The researchers of Vilans started in 2014 with a database about citizens' initiatives in care and welfare using google to search for initiatives. Exact search terms were not documented.

After publication of the first database they received messages from other initiatives on their own accord. In 2015 and 2016 they updated the database in cooperation with Jan Snijders of the citizens' initiative "*Austerlitz Zorgt*" who has a lot of contacts with other initiatives especially in Brabant, Utrecht and Limburg. They also cooperated with "*Nederland zorgt voor elkaar*" the umbrella organization for citizens' initiatives in care and welfare to find initiatives. Because of the way information for the databases has been collected it is likely that there is a selection bias in the data. The organizations that collect the data are based in Utrecht. So perhaps initiatives in Utrecht and the *Randstad* are more likely to receive attention because they are already in the network of the organizations. Initiatives in Brabant, Utrecht and Limburg might also be overrepresented because in these provinces umbrella organizations exist which bundle and share information regarding citizens' initiatives in their province. Initiatives in other areas where this kind of organization is lacking and/or contacts between important actors is more limited like *Zeeland* and *Friesland* might be less likely to receive attention.

The databases are in part based on a convenience sample, making use of already available networks of important actors in the field. While this is a good way to gain access to initiatives, it can also lead to a selective sample of initiatives because initiatives in some areas and/or with a larger network are overrepresented because they are better known to the actors (named in the beginning of this chapter) that were consulted. We will use a new search strategy to test if selection is present in the data. Two tests will be done to find out how complete the databases of citizens initiatives in care and welfare are. The first will be checking what number and percentage of initiatives that are part of the database are also found on the internet while using the search strategy. The second measure is testing what number of new initiatives are found using the new search strategy. This can indicate the level of selection in the database. When found that a lot of initiatives from specific provinces are missing that can point to selection in the database.

The search strategy will go from broad to specific. We start by using the search terms mentioned in table 3.1 in google in combination with "care" and "welfare". The first five

pages of google results will be used searching for citizens' initiatives that are already included in the dataset or are new. Then a province name will be added resulting in twelve different searches were also the first five pages of results will be used. The search terms in the table below will all be used separate from each other.

Table 3.1 - Search terms for search strategy.

Lokale kracht		
Burgerinitiatief		
Zorgcoöperatie		
Burgerkracht		
Actief burgerschap		
Doe-democratie		

Test 1: 134 initiatives of the total of 230 active initiatives were found by using the new search strategy, this is a success rate of 58,26%. This number is pretty high considering the fact that many citizens' initiatives have little presence online with quite a few not even having an own website or social media page. We noticed that a small number of citizens' initiatives provided most of the hits in this search strategy with four (Zorgcoöperatie Hoogeloon, Austerlitz Zorgt, 't Zorghuus Ysselsteyn, Lucas Community) being mentioned more than 50 times each while most others were only mentioned once or twice.

Test 2: Using this search strategy 17 new active initiatives were found that were not yet part of the database. Six of these new found initiatives are based in the province of Friesland which is interesting because only three initiatives in Friesland are part of the existing database. This might indicate that the existing database is selective with an underrepresentation of initiatives in the province of Friesland. We find 17 new initiatives which is not a lot, this might be because initiatives are hard to find via the internet and should be approached in another way or because there are not a lot of new initiatives in the Netherlands, we cannot be certain of either explanation.

Using our search strategy we found about 60% of the citizens initiatives in the database and 17 new ones with 6 of them in Friesland. The tests were aimed to see how well our search strategy worked and if the list of citizens initiatives is complete the search strategy seems to preform quite well considering the fact that many citizens initiatives are very small and do not have a big presence outside of their local community. The 17 new citizens initiatives that we found show that the current database was not yet complete and because of the fact that many initiatives are very small and often do not have a presence out of the local community we cannot be certain that the list of citizens initiatives is now complete after our search strategy.

Initiatives will be divided in three phases: active, not active, and stopped. In the statistical analysis only active initiatives will be used because a lot of factors can lead to an initiative not becoming active even if there are far reaching intentions to do so. We cannot be certain that intentions for initiatives lead to actual initiatives. Initiatives are considered active if they have given a "sign of life" after the 1st of January 2016. This sign can be a post on their website, a post on social media, a piece in a (local) paper or other news source. They are considered stopped when there is evidence that they stopped all activities this can be in the form of an online post, newsletter, local news source, etc. Not active are the initiatives that have not given a sign of life after January 2016 but also have not given evidence that they stopped.

3.1.2 Geographical scale

Four number postal code areas (from now on: postal code areas) were chosen as the level of measurement because it is small enough to be able to isolate population centers that are separate from bigger towns/villages this is especially important in more rural areas where small population centers can all be distinct communities while not having a big population. But it is also big enough big enough so that areas measure areas that can be counted as a community without splitting them in smaller pieces like smaller measurements would do.

3.1.3 Data to test the hypotheses

The dataset with data on municipality and postal code level will consist of relevant statistics of the area (four number postal codes) in which the initiative operates based on hypothesis posed in the last chapter. This includes the following data:

- Four digit postal code
- Municipal name
- Province name
- If a citizens' initiative is active in this postal code area
- Percentage of people aged 75+
- Distance to care facilities (currently)
- Distance general services (currently)
- Distance to care services (change between 2008-2015)
- Distance to general services (change between 2008-2015)
- Percentage of people with a migration background
- Social capital
- Residential turnover
- Percentage of people aged 65-75
- Percentage of people with higher education
- Distance to other initiatives
- Religion (Percentage of different religious groups)
- Population (absolute)
- Urbanity
- Social economic status

The operationalizations of the context data are based on a few different data sources. Most are based on data of the Statistics Netherlands (CBS). The measure for social economic status (SES) of neighborhoods is based on data of the Netherlands Institute for Social Research (SCP). While the measurement for social capital is based on the "WoOn survey" of the Dutch Ministry of the Interior and Kingdom Relations and the CBS. Wherever possible data of the year 2010 on four number postal code areas is used but for some data only other years are available or more complete if this is the case they are used instead.

In the theoretical framework individual characteristics are included but in the statistical analysis these will not be used because there is no data available on the individual level.

3.1.2.1 Dependent variable

Name	Level	Ν	Missings	Range	Mean
Presence of initiative	Postal code	4017	0	0-1	0.05

Because we have no reliable data on the exact timing of the emergence of initiatives the current presence in an area will be used as the dependent variable instead. Because of this there will be spoken about a relation between dependent and independent variables that heightens the chance that a initiative is present in an area and this heightened chance will be taken as a proxy for the chance of emergence of a citizens' initiative in an area.

The existence of a citizens' initiative for care and welfare in a certain postal code area is the dependent variable of this research. It is operationalized as follows: there is a citizens' initiative present in the database constructed by combining the Vilans and UU/ICA datasets and/or an initiative was found by employing the search strategy in the four number postal code corresponding with area.

3.1.2.2 Independent variables

Independent variables have been categorized in either necessity variables, capacity variables or mode of action variables (as defined in the theory section). In some cases variables are important in multiple categories. When this is the case this will be addressed.

Necessity variables

Name	Level	Ν	Missings	Range	Mean
Percentage of 75+ age	Postal code	4016	1	0-63.8	6.4
Change in distance to					
general services:					
Grocery store	Postal code	3843	174	1-5	3.0
Elementary school	Postal code	3825	192	1-5	3.0
High school	Postal code	3843	174	1-5	3.2
Library	Postal code	3843	174	1-5	3.2
Change in distance to care					
services:					
General practitioner	Postal code	3843	174	1-5	3.0
Pharmacy	Postal code	3843	174	1-5	3.1
Hospital	Postal code	3843	174	1-5	3.9
Current distance general					
service:					
Grocery store	Postal code	3846	177	0.5-11.6	1.5
Elementary school	Postal code	3845	177	0.5-10.3	1.0
High school	Postal code	3846	177	0.5-18.3	4
Library	Postal code	3846	177	0.5-17.5	3
Current distance care					
service:					
General Practitioner	Postal code	3846	177	0.5-11.9	1.8
Pharmacy	Postal code	3846	177	0.5-11.7	2.2
Hospital	Postal code	3846	177	0.5-72.5	9.4
Percentage of people with	Postal code	4017	0	0-93.2	13.9
migration background					

Percentage of people at the age of 75 or over

The variable: "percentage of people at the age of 75 or over" is based on data of the CBS from 2010, measured on postal code area level.

Change in distance to general services (between 2008-2015)

The change in distance to general services is based on data from the CBS. The CBS data is based on neighborhood data, a smaller measurement then postal code areas so we aggregated to postal code areas. We used data of the distance to care services in 2008 and 2015 to calculate the change in distance in kilometers (measured in a straight line) in this 7 year period to four different kinds of general services: a store for daily groceries, elementary school, high school and library and used this data to make a categorical variable. We did this because the distribution of the variables was far from normally distributed and had quite a few outliers when it was used as a continues variable (see figure 8.1 in the appendix). The categories of the categorical variables are as follows: 1 is a big decrease of the distance to a service (between 7.5 and 1 kilometers), except for the change in distance to a library that had four outliers of a decrease between 33.48-23.41 kilometers. 2 is a moderate decrease of the distance to a service (between 0 and 0.5 kilometers). 4 is a moderate increase in distance to a service

(between 0.5 and 1 kilometers) and 5 is a big increase in distance to a services. The distribution of the categories is displayed in table 8.2 in the appendix.

3, a small increase in distance to a services, will be used as reference category because it is the biggest category in almost all cases, there were in the variables only a few cases where the distance remained the same so this category could not be used as a reference category.

Change in distance to care services (between 2008-2015)

The change in distance to care services is based on data from the CBS. The CBS data is based on neighborhood data, a smaller measurement then postal code areas so we aggregated it to postal code areas. We used data of the distance to care services in 2008 and 2015 to calculate the change in distance in kilometers (measured in a straight line) in this 7 year period to three different kinds of care services: A general practitioner, an pharmacy and a hospital and used this data to make a categorical variable. We did this because the distribution of the variables was far from normally distributed and had quite a few outliers when it was used as a continues variable (for an example see figure 8.2 in the appendix). The categories of the categorical variables are as follows:1 is a big decrease of the distance to a service (between 1 and 0 kilometers), 2 is a moderate decrease of the distance to a service (between 1 and 0 kilometers). 3 is a small increase of distance to a service (between 0 and 0.5 kilometers). 4 is a moderate increase in distance to a services (between 1 and 17 kilometers), except for the change in distance to a hospital that had 49 outliers between 17.00-25.88. The distribution of the categories is displayed in table 8.3 in the appendix.

3, a small increase in distance to a services, will be used as reference category because it is the biggest category in almost all cases, there were only a few cases where the distance remained the same (0) so this category could not be used as a reference category.

Distance to care services

For the distance to general services data from the CBS is used. The CBS data is based on neighborhood data, a smaller measurement then postal code areas so we aggregated it to postal code areas. Data from 2015 was used and it measures the distance in kilometers (measured in a straight line) to three different kinds of care services: a general practitioner, a pharmacy and a hospital.

Distance to general services

For the distance to general services data from the CBS is used. The CBS data is based on neighborhood data, a smaller measurement then postal code areas so we aggregated it to postal code areas. Data from 2015 was used and it measures the distance in kilometers (measured in a straight line) to four different kinds of general services: a store for daily groceries, elementary school, high school and library.

Percentage people with a migration background

The percentage of people with a migration background was calculated using data from the CBS on population (in absolute terms) and the number of western and non-western people with a migration background. The population statistics and people with a migration background statistics are both from 2010 and on the postal code area level. We used these two

datasets to calculate the percent of people with a migration background by dividing the combined number of western and non-western people with a migration background over the total population and multiplying it by 100.

Name	Level	Ν	Missings	Range	Mean
Social capital	Postal code	2544	1473	-0.4-0.3	0.0
Residential turnover	Municipality	382	8	52.1-190.7	87.6
Percentage 65-75 age	Postal code	4017	0	0-50	8.8
Percentage of high	Municipality	382	8	10-51	26.5
education					

Capacity variables

Social capital

To measure social capital we used the measurement that was used by (Waverijn, Groenewegen & de Klerk, 2016) that used five questions from the "WoOn 2012" survey to measure social capital. These questions are all about the social contacts between neighbors. The questions are:

Q.12.25: "I have a lot of contact with my direct neighbors", Q.14.26: "I have a lot of contact with other neighbors", Q.14.28 "People in the neighborhood interact with each other in a friendly way", Q.14.29 "The neighborhood is sociable, friendly and there is a lot of solidarity between neighbors", Q.14.30 "people barely know each other" The last question will be coded in reverse so it keeps the same direction as the others (higher score is higher social capital). This data is aggregated to postal code area level.

Residential turnover

Residential turnover is based on CBS data from 2015 on the municipal level. Residential turnover will be measured in relative terms (residential turnover per capita) as this is the most accurate measure for the impact the turnover has on a community, larger communities can take in/lose more people without it making a big impact while the impact of smaller migrations can be profound in small communities.

Percentage of people aged 65 to 75

The age range 65 to 75 is based on CBS data from 2010 on a postal code area level. We used the variables "percentage of people aged 65 or over" and "percentage of people age 75 or over" of the CBS and subtracted the second from the first to calculate the percentage of people aged between 65 and 75.

Education level

Education level is based on CBS data. It measures the percentage of people that have finished a study in higher education. Higher education in this case is a finished study at a university of professional education, college or university. This measurement is on the level of the municipality and from 2015.
Name	Level	Ν	Missings	Range	Mean
Religious type percent:					
Catholic	Municipality	376	14	0.6-88.6	25.1
Protestant	Municipality	376	14	0.3-86.0	19.4
Islamic	Municipality	376	14	0.0-18.6	3.4
Non-religious	Municipality	376	14	2.2-84.2	47.2
Distance to other initiatives	Postal code	4017	0	0.2-58.5	9.7

Mode of action variables

Religion

To measure religiosity results of the "*Enquête Beroepsbevolking*" (EBB) from 2015 of the CBS are used.

"*Basisvragenlijst - Blok Religie en Gezondheid* Q: *Gelovig*": Of what religious affiliation do you consider yourself to be part? [1. No religious affiliation 2. Roman-Catholic 3. Dutch Reformed 4. Reformed Churches, 5. Protestant Church Netherlands 6. Islam 7. Jewish 8. Hindu 9. Buddhist 10 Other]. This data is used to calculate the percentage of people that are religious of any kind and the percentages of three major religious affiliations, catholic, protestant and islamic. These percentages will be used to test if the type of religious affiliation influences relates to the presence of citizens' initiatives. This data is aggregated by the CBS on the municipal level.

Distance to other initiatives

To measure the closeness of other initiatives the distance between a certain postal code area and the closest citizens' initiative will be used, if there is a citizens' initiative present in the postal code area the distance is to the closest other citizens' initiative. The distance is measured in kilometers (in a straight line) and is measured on a postal code area level.

Name	Level	Ν	Missings	Range	Mean
Urbanity	Postal code	4017	0	1-5	3.9
Population (divided by 10000)	Postal code	4017	0	0.05-2.8	0.4
Social economic status	Postal code	3533	484	-6.74-3.1	0.3

Control variables

Urbanity

In this study we control for urbanity because some research has suggested that there might be different reasons why citizens' initiatives emerge and endure between cities and rural areas (van Beest, 2014). Urbanity is based on the number of addresses per square kilometer (1 is urban which means more than 2500 addresses per km², 2 is semi-urban which means 1500–2499 addresses per km², 3 is intermediate urban-rural which means 1000–1499 addresses per km², 4 is Semi-rural which means 500–1000 addresses per km², 5 is rural which means up to 500 addresses per km²). The data is from the CBS from 2012 and is on the level of postal code area. For a distribution of the categories see table 8.4 in the appendix. In the analysis rural (5) will be used as the reference category.

Population

In this study we control for the absolute number of the population in a postal code area. The population statistics are from 2010 and they come from the CBS. They represent the number of people that are registered at the population registry and rounded randomly to 5 to ensure privacy. They are based on postal code areas. In the statistical analysis this number will be divided by 10000 to make sure the coefficients are easier to interpret.

Social Economic Status (SES)

Social economic status will be measured using SCP data from 2014 about the social economic status score of neighborhoods. The SCP uses four measures of social economic status:

- The average income in a neighborhood
- The percentage of people with a low income
- The percentage of people with a lower education
- The percentage of people that are unemployed

With factor analysis these measures were combined by the SCP into one score of SES. The scores standardized and display how much standard deviations they differ from the average in the Netherlands.

3.2 Statistical analysis

To answer the explanatory question all hypotheses will be tested with quantitative methods using Stata 14 and MLwiN 3.0. To find out if the data is clustered the Moran's I will be calculated using R. This measure will tell us if citizens' initiatives are spatially auto correlated and thus clustered or if they are randomly distributed over the Netherlands, at least in a spatial sense. The clustering of citizens' initiatives in municipalities will be tested using MLwiN. The hypotheses will be tested using logistic multilevel analysis. This multilevel analysis will have three levels province, municipality, postal code area. While we have no variables on province level this level will be tested because earlier inventories have shown that there are big differences in the number of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare between provinces so it is interesting to see how much of the variance of presence of citizens' initiatives is on province level.

The multilevel analysis will be modeled in the following way: first the three levels of analysis are specified, province, municipality and postal code area. Then the control variables, that are all on postal code area level are added. In the next three models the variables are added in this order: necessity, capacity and models of action.

The modeling strategy for the logistic multilevel analysis is described schematically below:

M0: Presence of citizens' initiative = constant + hierarchical structure

M1: Presence of citizens' initiative = constant + hierarchical structure + control variables M2: Presence of citizens' initiative = constant + hierarchical structure + control variables + necessity variables

M3: Presence of citizens' initiative = constant + hierarchical structure + control variables + necessity variables + capacity variables

M4: Presence of citizens' initiative = constant + hierarchical structure + control variables + necessity variables + capacity variables + models of actions variables.

M5: Presence of citizens' initiative = constant + hierarchical structure + control variables + necessity variables + capacity variables + models of actions variables.

M6: M4 stratified by urbanity: urban/semi urban compared to rural.

4. Results

In this chapter the results of the research and statistical analysis done in this study will be presented. First the results of the inventory of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare will be given and after that the statistical results of the quantitative study will be given.

4.1 Geographical distribution of citizens initiatives

In the introduction the question was posed: "What is the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands?". To answer this question an inventory of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare was done based on two preexisting databases and extra research done to augment these databases. In total 230 active citizens' initiatives in care and welfare were found in the Netherlands using the criteria as described in the method section.

Figure 4.1 – Number of citizens' initiatives per province



As can be seen in figure 4.1, most initiatives are active in the south of the Netherlands in Noord-Brabant and Limburg (the redder the province the higher the number of initiatives. In fact a little under half (43%) of the citizens' initiatives in care and welfare can be found in these provinces. While not as widespread as in the south of the country, citizens' initiatives in care and welfare do exist in moderate amounts in the Randstad provinces of Noord-Holland, Zuid-Holland and Utrecht with 31% of the citizens' initiatives active in one of these provinces. The presence of 13 citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the province of Groningen is also interesting considering it is the fourth smallest province in population while still ranking above provinces with almost twice (Overijssel) or even three times (Gelderland) as many inhabitants. Flevoland and Zeeland are provinces where citizens' initiatives are not or barely active.

Table 4.1 shows something interesting, it shows that Limburg has by far the most initiatives per inhabitant, almost double the amount of number two on the list. We can also see that Noord-Brabant while having the most initiatives, has per capita less initiatives the Limburg and Groningen. Another interesting fact is that the provinces of Noord-Holland and especially Zuid-Holland have quite a few initiatives in absolute terms but have only moderate numbers of initiatives per capita.

Area	Initiatives	Initiatives per 100.000 inhabitants
The Netherlands	230	1.35
Limburg	49	4.38
Groningen	14	2.39
Noord-Brabant	55	2.19
Utrecht	19	1.48
Friesland	9	1.39
Noord-Holland	35	1.25
Drenthe	4	0.81
Overijssel	9	0.78
Zuid-Holland	25	0.68
Gelderland	10	0.49
Zeeland	1	0.26
Flevoland	0	0

Table 4.1 - Citizens initiatives per province per 100.000 inhabitants

In table 4.2 we can see that citizens' initiatives are more often present in urban or semi-urban postal code area's then they do in non-urban postal code areas. This however is to a large extend due to the Randstad provinces Noord- and South-Holland and Utrecht where citizens' initiatives are mostly active around and in big cities like Amsterdam, The Hague and Utrecht. In all other provinces except for Friesland citizens' initiatives are in varying degrees more active in non-urban postal code areas. In Noord-Brabant only 3 of its 55 initiatives are located in urban or semi urban postal code areas despite the fact that urban and semi urban postal code areas make up more than 20% of the total number of postal code areas of the province.

Region	Number of initiatives in urban/semi urban Postal codes (total number of postal codes)	Percentage of initiatives in urban/semi urban postal codes	Percentage of postal codes that is urban/semi urban. (number of postal codes that is urban/semi- urban)	Difference between the percentage of initiatives active in urban/semi urban postal codes and percentage of urban/semi urban postal codes in a
				region
The	67 (230)	29.1%	20.1% (901)	+9.0%
Netherlands				
Drenthe	0 (4)	0.0%	0.9% (8)	-0.9%
Friesland	1 (9)	11.1%	5,0% (24)	+6.1%
Flevoland	0 (0)	0.0%	25.8% (23)	-
Gelderland	1 (10)	10.0%	13.9% (69)	-3.9%
Groningen	0 (14)	0.0%	8.4% (21)	-8.4%
Limburg	2(49)	4.1%	16.1% (45)	-12.1%
Noord-	3(55)	5.5%	20.0% (101)	-14.8%
Brabant				
Noord-	25(35)	71.4%	40.8% (189)	+30,6%
Holland	~ /			
Overijssel	0 (9)	0.0%	14.8% (43)	-14.8%
Utrecht	11(19)	57.9%	33.2% (73)	+24.7%
Zeeland	0(1)	0.0%	6.5% (10)	-6.5%
Zuid-	24(25)	96.0%	4.2% (295)	+41.8%
Holland	× /		× /	

Table 4.2 - Percentage of initiatives in urban/semi-urban postcodes and the difference with percentage of urban/semi-urban postcodes

When we look at the presence of citizens' initiatives on a lower more detailed level we can see more clearly what the distribution of citizens' initiatives looks like. In the figure below initiatives are shown based on postal code areas.

Figure 4.2 – Citizens initiatives on postal code area level



In figure 4.2 some things can be seen that nuance the found distribution when looking at the level of provinces. Firstly we can see that a lot of citizens' initiatives are active in the same area of North-Limburg and the eastern parts of North-Brabant while being relatively scarce in the rest of these provinces (more so with Noord-Brabant then with Limburg). Furthermore we can see that most citizens' initiatives in the Randstad provinces of Noord-Holland, Zuid-Holland and Utrecht are largely active in the areas in and around big cities like Rotterdam, Den Haag, Amsterdam and Utrecht. This is a difference with Limburg and Noord-Brabant where initiatives are present in and around cities as well as rural areas. There is also a concentration in the east of Groningen with six initiatives within one postal code area of each other. The rest of the initiatives seem to be relatively evenly split over the provinces they are in without any special patterns.

When we look at the distance to the nearest (other) citizens' initiative in care and welfare, so not counting itself. We can see the distribution of citizens' initiatives even more clearly.



Figure 4.3 - Distance to nearest (other) citizens' initiative on postal code level

Figure 4.3 shows the distance from a postal code to the most nearby postal code. Red areas are more than kilometers away from the nearest citizens initiatives and this distance decreases in steps of 5 from red, orange, yellow, light green to dark green. Dark green areas are thus closest to (other) citizens initiatives. We can see a lot of red colored postal code areas in Zeeland, Flevoland, and Drenthe and some in Gelderland and Friesland as expected when considering the amount of initiatives that are present in these provinces but we can also see quite a few red areas in the provinces of Zuid-Holland and Noord-Brabant, provinces that both have a considerable amount of initiatives. The area where these provinces border Zeeland, the west of Noord-Brabant and south of Zuid-Holland citizens' initiatives are scarce and distances to the nearest citizens' initiatives long. We see a lot of dark green areas in Limburg, eastern North-Brabant and the *Randstad* as well as the north of the province of Groningen.

A statistical measure for the clustering of citizens' initiatives is Moran's I. This measure tells us if citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are clustered or not. The figures earlier in the section seem to suggest that there is indeed clustering going on, initiatives are present in higher numbers in areas. The results of the Moran's I test are presented in table 4.3.

Table 4.3 - Moran's I test for initiatives

Observed	Expected	Standard deviation	P value	
0.0202	-0.0002	0.0008	0.0000	

Why there: distribution of citizens initiatives explained - Thijs van der Knaap (2017)

We can see that the value of the observed Moran's I is bigger than the expected value and that this difference is statistically significant with a p value of >0.001. The observed value of Moran's I of 0.0202is rather small. Moran's I can take on values between -1 and 1. The values of Moran's I and its significance are influenced by the number of areas in the study. Considering we have a fairly big sample of 4017 areas this the finding of a small value of Moran's I that is still highly significant can be explained. We can based on the significance reject the null hypothesis of the Moran's I test (which is that there is no spatial autocorrelation in the values of the existence of initiatives in a postal code). However, from the small value of Moran's I the spatial autocorrelation is not seen as substantive. The conclusion is that citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are no more spatially clustered then expected if the spatial effects were random. This result can be explained because in a limited area in the Netherlands (eastern Noord-Brabant and Limburg) there is a concentration of citizens initiatives leading to higher values of Moran's I but in others (for example Zeeland and Flevoland) there are next to none leading to lower values of Moran's I. These two effects, when the whole of Netherlands is taken into account (almost) cancel each other out leading to a very low value of Moran's I.

To see if we could find clustering in provinces where a lot of citizens initiatives are active we calculated the Moran's I for the provinces Noord-Brabant and Limburg and these two provinces combined. The results of the Moran's I test however are comparable to the one above, significant but low values of Moran's I are found. The Moran's I values that are found are bigger than those found in the Netherlands (Limburg: 0.0473, Noord-Brabant: 0.0419, Combined: 0.0335) as a whole indicating that there might indeed be more clustering of citizens initiatives in care and welfare in Noord-Brabant and Limburg but they are still too low to come to that conclusion with certainty and we have to conclude that the citizens initiatives in Noord-Brabant and Limburg are no more spatially clustered then expected if the spatial effects were random. For the complete results see table 8.5 in the appendix.

4.2 Explaining the spatial distribution of citizens initiatives

In this section the results of the logistic multilevel analysis will be presented. All models will be presented in the same table. Not all results in the table will be discussed, only when they are significant or otherwise relevant. First some tests will be done to makes sure the variables that are used in the multilevel analysis are of good quality and do not disrupt the results.

We tested for correlation between independent variables and urbanity and population. We did this because urbanity, operationalized as categories of number of households in an area and population are likely to be correlated. If we find any correlations that are very strong this might disrupt the results. So if this is the case one of the variables should be excluded. The spearman's test for correlation that we did (see table 8.1 in the appendix) reveals that there is a strong negative correlation between urbanity and population, rs = -0.7230. Additionally there are a few other correlations between independent variables found (only strong correlations are displayed). However, the correlations are not so strong that we need to remove any of the variables from the multilevel analysis.

	M0 Constant	M1 control	M2 necessity	M3 capacity	M4 models of action
	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)
Dep = initiative yes or no					
Fixed coefficients	0.051	0.052	0.025 (0.027)	0.004 (0.000)	
Constant	0.051	0.052	0.035 (0.027)	0.004 (0.060)	0.022 (0.074)
Level: Postal code areas	(0.014)	(0.013)***			-0.022 (0.074)
Urbanity: urban (ref-rural)		-0.018 (0.020)	0.009 (0.026)	-0.004 (0.033)	0.003 (0.033)
Urbanity: semi urban		-0.065	-0.037(0.020)	-0.051	0.005 (0.055)
		(0.016)***		(0.026)*	-0.045 (0.026)
Urbanity: intermediate		-0.058	-0.032 (0.018)	-0.046 (0.023)	
		(0.015)***			-0.042 (0.024)
Urbanity: Semi-rural		-0.052	-0.032 (0.015)*	-0.046	
		(0.013)***		(0.019)*	-0.045 (0.019)*
Population / 10000		0.065	0.058	0.056	0.055 (0.010)**
		$(0.014)^{***}$	$(0.014)^{***}$	$(0.01/)^{**}$	0.055 (0.018)**
Boreentage of 75		0.005 (0.004)	0.006(0.005) 0.000(0.005)	0.006(0.007)	0.004(0.007) 0.001(0.002)
Current distance GP			-0.000(0.003)	0.001(0.002) 0.007(0.010)	0.001(0.002) 0.007(0.010)
Current distance pharmacy			-0.009(0.000)	0.009 (0.008)	0.007 (0.010)
Current distance hospital			0.001 (0.001)	0.001 (0.002)	0.002 (0.002)
Current distance grocery store			-0.012 (0.005)*	-0.017 (0.010)	-0.015 (0.010)
Current distance elementary			-0.013 (0.008)	-0.010 (0.018)	
school					-0.009 (0.018)
Current distance high school			0.007 (0.002)**	0.007	
				(0.003)*	0.006 (0.003)*
Current distance library			0.000 (0.003)	0.001 (0.004)	0.002 (0.004)
Change in distance: GP big			-0.040 (0.044)	-0.035 (0.071)	0.040 (0.071)
decrease (ref=small increase)			0.022 (0.012)	0.021 (0.015)	-0.042 (0.071)
decrease			0.022 (0.012)	0.021 (0.013)	0.022(0.015)
Change in distance: GP moderate			0.016 (0.017)	0.011 (0.026)	0.022 (0.013)
increase			0.010 (0.017)	0.011 (0.020)	0.014 (0.026)
Change in distance: GP big			0.031 (0.026)	0.023 (0.044)	
increase					0.028 (0.044)
Change in distance: pharmacy			-0.017 (0.027)	-0.028 (0.036)	
big decrease (ref=small increase)					-0.033 (0.037)
Change in distance: pharmacy			-0.023 (0.012)*	-0.017 (0.015)	
small decrease			0.002 (0.017)	0.01((0.02()	-0.016 (0.015)
change in distance: pharmacy			-0.002 (0.017)	0.016 (0.026)	0.017(0.026)
Change in distance: pharmacy			-0.025(0.020)	-0.007 (0.030)	0.017 (0.020)
big increase			-0.023 (0.020)	-0.007 (0.050)	-0.001 (0.030)
Change in distance: hospital big			0.117 (0.034)**	0.120	0.001 (0.050)
decrease (ref=small increase)				(0.041)**	0.117 (0.041)**
Change in distance: hospital			0.026 (0.022)	0.033 (0.026)	
small decrease					0.033 (0.026)
Change in distance: hospital			-0.011 (0.011)	-0.012 (0.014)	
moderate increase			0.010 (0.010)	0.004 (0.017)	-0.015 (0.015)
Change in distance: hospital big			-0.013 (0.013)	-0.004 (0.017)	0.009 (0.017)
Increase Change in distance: grocery store			0.002(0.027)	0.002 (0.044)	-0.008 (0.017)
big decrease (ref-small increase)			-0.003 (0.027)	0.003 (0.044)	0 009 (0 044)
Change in distance: grocery store			0.002 (0.011)	-0.003 (0.013)	0.009 (0.0++)
small decrease			0.002 (0.011)	01002 (01012)	-0.004 (0.013)
Change in distance: grocery store			0.019 (0.020)	0.039 (0.033)	
moderate increase					0.037 (0.033)
Change in distance: grocery store			0.020 (0.020)	0.043 (0.040)	
big increase			0.054 (0.050)	0.005 (0.11 -	0.033 (0.041)
Change in distance: elementary			0.054 (0.062)	-0.037 (0.116)	
school big decrease (ref=small					0.031(0.116)
merease)					-0.031 (0.110)

Table 4.4 - Results of multilevel analysis with dependent variable of presence (1) or not (0) of a citizens initiatives

Change in distance: elementary			-0.007 (0.012)	-0.007 (0.015)	
school small decrease					-0.009 (0.015)
Change in distance: elementary			0.017 (0.021)	-0.006 (0.037)	
school moderate increase					-0.008 (0.037)
Change in distance: elementary			0.033 (0.029)	0.000 (0.068)	
school big increase					-0.006 (0.068)
Change in distance: high school			-0.029 (0.031)	-0.022 (0.039)	
big decrease (ref=small increase)					-0.017 (0.039)
Change in distance: high school			-0.013 (0.012)	-0.012 (0.015)	
small decrease					-0.013 (0.015)
Change in distance: high school			-0.016 (0.012)	-0.022 (0.039)	
moderate increase					-0.021 (0.017)
Change in distance: high school			-0.027 (0.017)	-0.016 (0.024)	
big increase					-0.017 (0.024)
Change in distance: library big			0.000 (0.019)	0.009 (0.026)	
decrease (ref=small increase)			· · · ·	· · · ·	0.011 (0.026)
Change in distance: library small			0.010 (0.012)	0.009 (0.014)	
decrease			· · · ·		0.011 (0.014)
Change in distance: library			0.001 (0.013)	0.000 (0.019)	
moderate increase			· · · · ·	· · · ·	0.001 (0.019)
Change in distance: library big			-0.006 (0.014)	0.001 (0.019)	
increase			· · · ·		0.002 (0.019)
Percentage of migrants			0.000 (0.001)	0.000 (0.001)	0.000 (0.001)
Social capital			· · · · ·	0.060 (0.059)	0.048 (0.060)
Percentage 65-75				-0.002 (0.003)	-0.003 (0.003)
Distance to other initiatives				()	-0.002 (0.001)
Level: Municipality					(,
Residential turnover				0.000 (0.000)	0.000 (0.000)
Percentage high education				0.001 (0.001)	0.001 (0.001)
Religion: catholic				01001 (01001)	0.001 (0.001)**
Religion: protestant					0.000 (0.001)
Religion: muslim					-0.001 (0.003)
Rengion. mushin					0.001 (0.005)
Random coefficients					
Level: province variance	0.002	0.002	0.002 (0.001)*	0.002	0.000 (0.000)
I	$(0.001)^{*}$	(0.001)*	(,	$(0.001)^{*}$	
Level: municipal variance	0.006	0.007	0.007 (0.001)*	0.007	0.006 (0.001)*
	(0.001)*	(0.001)*		(0.001)*	
Units: province	12	12	12	12	12
Units: municipality	390	389	389	380	377
Units: postal code area	4017	3533	3445	2403	2387
Intra class correlation province	0.0024	0.0027	0.0027	0.0027	0,0000
Intra class correlation	0.0018	0.0021	0.0021	0.0021	0.0018
municipality province	0.0010	0.0021	5.00E1	0.0021	0.0010
-2*loglikelihood	-984,597	-538.456	-593.253	-32.39	-31,753
-2*loglikelihood change	-	446.141***	-54.797	560.863***	0.637
2 loginerinood enunge		110,171	5 (11)1	200.005	0.007

*** p <0.001, ** p<0.01, * p<0.05

In model 0 only the dependent variable (the dichotomous variable if there is an initiative in the postal code area (1) or not (0), constant and levels (level 1: provinces, level 2: municipalities, level 3: postal code areas) are specified. The intra class correlation of municipalities nested in provinces is 0.0024, this means that 0.24% of the variance in the presence of a citizens' initiative in care and welfare in postal code areas is due to differences between province characteristics. The intra class correlation of postal code areas nested in municipalities is 0.0018 this means that 0.18% of the variance in the presence of a citizens' initiative in postal code areas is due to differences between municipal code areas the presence of a citizens' initiative in care and welfare in postal code areas is due to differences between municipal characteristics. This means that 99.58% of the variance of the presence of a citizens' initiative in care and welfare in postal code areas is due to the characteristics of the postal code areas themselves. While the variance on province and municipal level is significant it is also very small, this indicates that there is no spatial clustering of citizens initiatives in care and

welfare.

In model 1 the control variables: urbanity of area (categorical with five categories ranging from urban to rural, rural is reference category), population (divided by 10000) and social economic status are added. The results show that there is more or less the same chance of encountering a citizens initiative in urban (B: -0.018, p>0.05) and rural postal code areas and a significant lower chance to encounter them in semi-urban (B: -0.065, p<0.001), intermediate (B: -0.058, p<0.001) and semi-rural (B: -0.052, p<0.001) postal code areas. Furthermore they show that citizens initiatives the chances to find a citizens initiative are significantly bigger in more populous postal code areas (B: 0.065, p<0.001) and that the social economic status in an area does not significantly impact the chances to find a citizens initiative in that area (B: 0.005, p>0.05).

In model 2 the necessity variables: percentage of people aged 75 or over, distance care and general services, change in distance to care and general services (categorical between big decrease (1) and big increase (5)) and percentage of people with a migration background are added. Of the added variables five have a significant relation with the presence of a citizens initiative in a postal code area. Citizens initiatives are significantly more likely to be found in areas where the distance towards the nearest grocery store (B: 0.013, p<0.05) and high school (B: 0.007, p<0.01) is longer. The change to find a citizens initiative is also significantly more likely in an area where the distance to a hospital decreased considerably in the last 7 years (B: (0.117, p>0.01) compared to areas where it increased slightly and significantly less likely in areas where the distance to the nearest pharmacy decrease slightly compared to areas where it increased slightly (B: -0.023, p<.05). In model 2 semi-urban and intermediate areas no longer differ significantly from rural areas in their chance that a citizens initiative is present. In semi-rural areas citizens initiatives are still less likely to be found (B:-0.023, p>0.005).

In model 3 the capacity variables: social capital, percentage of people aged 65-75, residential turnover and percentage of higher educated people were added. None of these variables have a statistically significant relation with the presence of citizens' initiatives in an area. The significance of the necessity variables: distance to a grocery store and change in distance to a pharmacy disappeared. The control variables that were significant in model 2 were still significant in 3. The chance to find a citizens initiative in a semi-urban postal code area is significantly less compared to rural areas.

In model 4, the final model, the model of action variables: distance to an initiative and membership of a religious group (catholic, protestant, islam) were added. Of these variables only the percentage of catholics had a significant relation with citizens initiatives, citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in areas with a higher percentage of catholics (0.001, p<0.001). Two of the necessity variables have a significant relation with the presence of citizens initiatives. Citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in areas where the distance to the nearest high school is longer (B: 0.007, p<0.01) and citizens initiatives are also more likely to be found in areas where the distance to the nearest hospital decreased considerably in the last 7 years compared to areas where it increased slightly (B: 0.117, p<0.01). Two control variables have a significant relation with the presence of citizens initiatives are more likely to be present in areas that are more populous (B: 0.055, p<0.01) and less likely to be present in semi-rural areas compared to rural areas (B: -0.045, p<0.05). The

total variance between postal code areas with regards to the presence of citizens initiatives that this model explains is 0.43%.

We also tested if there were interaction effects between necessity variables and capacity, and models of action variables. This was not the case and no interaction effect resulted in a result that was statistically significant.

We tried to test if there were differences in variables that have a relation with the presence of citizens' initiatives in rural postal code areas compared to urban/semi-urban postal code areas. To test this we did two multilevel analyses one with only rural postal code areas and another with only semi-urban/urban postal code areas. We used semi-urban and urban for the second analysis because otherwise a lot of postal code areas in cities like Eindhoven, Maastricht and Almere would be omitted from the urban category while they are similar enough to warrant them in the analysis. In both analyses one province is missing because it does not have any rural (Flevoland) or semi-urban/urban (Drenthe) areas. We will only discuss the results of the last model of each of these analyses as that is the most relevant. In the appendix you can find the complete results of the analysis with rural areas (table 8.6) and the analysis with semi-urban/urban areas (table 8.7).

First the results of the analysis with rural areas are presented. In the last model four variables have a statistically significant relation with the presence of citizens initiatives in an area. In rural areas citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in areas where the percentage of people aged 75+ is higher (B: 0.013, p<0.05) and where the distance to hospitals decreased considerably (B:0.246, p>0.05) or decreased slightly (B:0.199, p<0.05) compared to areas where it increased slightly. In rural areas are less likely to be found in areas where the percentage of people aged 65-75 is higher (B:-0.017, p<0.05). The variance on province (intra class correlation: 0.000, p>0.05) and municipal level (intra class correlation: 0.0015, p<0.05) is low, on the province level it is also not significant. This means that almost all of the differences found between different areas with regards to the presence of citizens initiatives are thus based on variances in the characteristics of postal code areas. The total variance between rural areas with regards to the presence of citizens that this model explains is 29.8%.

The results of the analysis with semi-urban/urban areas are as follows: in the last model three variables have a statistically significant relation with citizens initiatives in an area. In semi-urban/urban areas citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in areas that are more populous (B: 0.072, p<0.01), the social economic status is higher (B: 0.029, p<0.001) and the percentage of people with a migration background is higher (B: 0.002, p<0.05). The variance on province (intra class correlation: 0.000) and municipal level (intra class correlation 0.000) is not significant so there are no differences in the chances that a citizens initiative is present in an area based on variance in characteristics on municipal and province level. All of the differences found between different areas with regards to the presence of citizens initiatives are thus based on variances in the characteristics of postal code areas. The total variance between rural areas with regards to the presence of citizens that this model explains is 7.87%.

Concluding this section we can say that we not found a lot of significant relationship between the presence of citizens initiatives in an area and the variables that we tested. In the general model we found that citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in areas that are more populous, more catholic, where high schools are further away and the distance to the nearest hospital has decreased significantly over the measured seven years and less likely to be found in semi-rural areas. Furthermore we found that almost all of the variance between areas is due to variance on the level of postal code area. The total explained variance of this model is quite low however with only 0.43% explained variance. We found that there are no significant interaction effects between necessity variables and capacity or models of action variables. In the multilevel analysis with only rural areas we found that citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in rural areas where the percentage of people aged 75+ is higher and where the distance to the nearest hospital has decreased slightly or significantly in the last 7 years and less likely in areas where the percentage of people aged 65 till 75 is higher. 29.8% of the total variance between rural areas was explained with this model, which compared to the general and rural/semi-rural model is quite high. In the multilevel analysis with only urban/semiurban areas we found that citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in urban/semi urban areas when the areas are more populous, the social economic status is higher and there is a higher percentage of people with a migration background. This model explained 7.87% of the total variance between urban/semi urban areas. We will use the results found in these analyses in the next section to answer the research questions.

5. Conclusion & Discussion

In this chapter the mean research questions will be answered based on the results found in the previous chapter

5.1 Answering the central questions

The aim of this study was to answer the three research question posed in the introduction, a descriptive question, an explanatory question and a policy advice question.

5.1.1 Descriptive question

The first, descriptive question was the following: *"What is the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands?"* To answer this question data from the databases was analyzed using geographical mapping and statistical methods.

One finding is that citizens' initiatives in care and welfare (henceforth: citizens initiatives) seem to be primarily distributed more in a few areas then others when citizens' initiatives were mapped on province and postal code area level. With regards to the distribution of province level, citizens' initiatives are especially numerous in the south-east (Noord-Brabant and Limburg) and the west (Noord-Holland, Zuid-Holland and Utrecht) of the Netherlands. With Noord-Brabant having the most (55) citizens' initiatives within its borders (55) followed by Limburg (49) and Noord-Holland (35). Citizens initiatives are not present in the province of Flevoland and only one is present in the province of Zeeland.

However when looking at citizens' initiatives per capita some questions can be raised about the prominence of citizens' initiatives in the western provinces of North- and South-Holland. This is because per capita citizens' initiatives are more numerous in the northern and south eastern provinces. Groningen while only having 13 citizens' initiatives within its borders has per capita the second highest number of citizens' initiatives and Friesland while only having 9, ranks fourth. Per capita citizens' initiatives are still most numerous in the south eastern provinces Limburg and Noord-Brabant. Limburg has per capita the most citizens' initiatives, almost double the amount of number two. Noord-Brabant, despite having the largest amount of citizens' initiatives within its border is per capita the third province in regards to the number of citizens' initiatives behind Limburg and Groningen. North and South Holland per capita only have the sixth (Noord-Holland) and ninth (South-Holland) most citizens' initiative active within their borders with South-Holland only ranking higher than Gelderland, Zeeland, where only one citizens' initiative is active, and Flevoland, that has no active citizens' initiatives within its borders.

On postal code level the distribution of citizens' initiatives can be seen even more clearly. Citizens' initiatives are predominantly distributed in three areas. Firstly many citizens' initiatives are active in the east of North-Brabant and northern parts of Limburg. Secondly many citizens' initiatives are active in and close to cities in the *Randstad* (metropolitan areas in Noord- Holland, South Holland and Utrecht. Lastly there is a concentration of citizens' initiatives in north and east Groningen.

Another interesting finding is that in provinces with a percentage of urban or semi urban postal code that is lower than the national average, citizens' initiatives are more likely to be situated in rural, semi-rural or intermediate postal code areas even when controlled for the percentage of urban/semi-urban areas that there are in this province. There is one exception to this rule and that is Friesland but this difference is caused by one citizens' initiative that is active in an urban/semi-urban area of the nine citizens' initiatives that are active in the whole of Friesland making the difference small. For provinces with a percentage of urban/semi-urban postal code areas above the countries average (Noord-Holland, Zuid-Holland and Utrecht) the opposite is found. In these provinces the percentage of citizens' initiatives that are active in urban/semi-urban postal code areas is higher even when controlled for the percentage of urban/semi-urban postal code areas in these provinces.

Given these findings the descriptive question: "What is the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands?" can be answered as follows; Citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands are distributed, in large part in three different areas, The rural and semi-rural areas of eastern Noord-Brabant and the northern parts of Limburg, the urban and semi urban areas close to big cities in Noord-Holland, Zuid-Holland and Utrecht in an area called '*The Randstad*' and, although to a lesser degree in the rural and semi-rural areas of north and east Groningen. Citizens are absent from the province of Flevoland and only one exists in Zeeland. The rest of the initiatives are distributed over the Netherlands in no apparent pattern.

5.1.2 Explanatory question

In this section the explanatory question "*How can the geographical distribution of citizens*" *initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands be explained*?" will be answered.

The results that were found that there are five significant relationships in the general analysis between the presence of citizens' initiatives and the tested variables. In areas with higher distance to high school, a big decrease in distance to the nearest hospital and a bigger percentage of catholics citizens initiatives are more likely to be present. The first finding provides some evidence for hypothesis 1.2.4 that poses that in areas where the distance to general services is higher likelihood that citizens initiatives are present in an area is higher because there is more need for especially welfare because the supply is lower. However because the other three of the general services have no significant relation with presence of citizens initiatives we have to reject that hypothesis, also the found relationship is very small meaning that the substantivity of the result is limited. The second result is the exact opposite from what we would expect. According to the hypothesis (1.2.5) a decrease in the distance to a care services like a hospital would lessen the feeling of necessity for change in a community which is assumed to lessen the chance that a citizens initiative would be present in a community. We see a rather large effect (in comparison to others) the other way around. In areas where the distance to a hospital decreased significantly the chance to find a citizens initiative does not decrease but instead increases it. We have no plausible explanation for this result and we could find no theory on the basis of which we could speculate about it. The last result provides some evidence for hypothesis 3.3 that poses that in areas with a higher percentage of catholics the likelihood that citizens initiatives are active in an area is higher because religion (and especially catholicism) provides experience that can lead to communal action. The relation while significant is very low in power so it is not substantive meaning that we will reject this hypothesis. The rest of the hypotheses are rejected as well because the results show no significant relation between the presence of a citizens initiative in an area and the variables that measure the concept of the hypotheses. There are two control variables that

have a significant relationship with the presence of citizens initiatives. These are population and the urbanity of an area being semi-rural. In areas that are more populous citizens initiatives are more likely to be present while in semi-rural areas citizens initiatives are less likely to be present compared to other grades of urbanity.

When only rural areas are analyzed (see table 8.6 in the appendix) some different results are found. In rural areas there are four significant relationships between the presence of citizens initiatives and non-control variables. In rural areas citizens initiatives are more likely to be present when the percentage of people aged 75+ is higher, there is a big decrease in the distance to the nearest hospital (compared to a small increase), there is a small decrease in the distance to the nearest hospital (compared to a small increase) and less likely when there are more people aged 65-75. The first result while significant does not provide evidence for the hypothesis (1.2.1) that in areas with more old elderly (75+) citizens initiatives are more likely to be present because the need for care and welfare is higher because the found relation is too small. The next two results relate to the same hypothesis (1.2.5) both that in areas where the distance to the nearest hospital (a care service) decreased over the last 7 years the chance to find a citizens initiative is higher. This is the exact opposite what we would expect from the hypothesis as a decrease in distance to a health services would lessen the necessity for action (in the form of a citizens initiative) and thus decrease the chance to find a citizens initiatives in areas where this has happened. The last result is that in areas where the percentage of people aged 65-75 is higher the chance to find a citizens initiative is lower. This is the opposite from what we would expect on the basis of hypothesis 2.5 because that a high percentage of people aged 65-75 is assumed to lead to a higher capacity for action in the community. The relation that was found, while significant is not very substantive because the relationship is weak.

When only urban/semi urban areas are analyzed we find very different relationships for rural areas. Here age and decrease in distance to a hospital does not matter for the presence of citizens initiatives. In urban/semi urban areas citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in more populous areas, areas where the social economic status is higher and in areas with a higher percentage of people with a migration background. The relationship with population was also found in the general analysis and this analysis shows that all other things being equal citizens initiatives are more likely to be found in big cities compared to smaller cities. The second finding is interesting because in the two other analyses no significant relation with social economic status was found. The third effect that was found is in accordance with hypothesis 1.2.7 that poses that in areas with a higher percentage of people with a migration background the chance to find a citizens initiative is higher because the preferences for care in this area are more diverse and thus the chance of a care vacuum is higher. While significant, the found relationship is not very substantive because it is very weak.

With the results that were found in these three analyses we can answer the explanatory question: *"How can the geographical distribution of citizens" initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands be explained?"* The explanatory question can be answered as follows: the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in the Netherlands is difficult to explain by variations in necessity, capacity or model of action variables on the level of postal code areas and/or municipalities. We found only a few relationships that were

both significant and substantive. In general citizens initiatives in care and welfare are more likely to be present in areas where the distance to the hospital has decreased, this is especially the case with rural areas where also a small decrease has a relationship with the presence of citizens initiatives. Furthermore citizens initiatives are more likely to be present in more populous areas and less likely to be found in semi-rural areas. In urban/semi-urban areas a higher social economic status in an area is positively related with a higher change on the presence of citizens initiatives in care and welfare in this area, this is not the case in areas of a different urbanity.

5.2 Discussion

No research is perfect, in this chapter we will discuss the found results, the validity of the found results, and in what way the research could be improved and recommend possible further research.

The results that were found do not match the expectations from the theory. We found that most variables that were thought to relate to the emergence/presence of a citizens' initiative had no statistically significant relation with it. We did have some interesting results we will discuss here.

We found that contrary to the hypothesis in areas where the distance to the nearest hospital substantially decreased over the measured seven years citizens initiatives in care and welfare were more likely to be present. In rural areas this relation was also found when the decrease was only small. This finding is interesting because it goes against our theory and a logical explanation for this finding is not available.

We found no significant relationship between social capital and the presence of citizens initiatives in any of the three studies. This might be due to the fact that the variable for social capital had a lot of missing values (1473), these missing values do not exclude any citizens initiatives in care and welfare from the analysis partly because most missing values are in very small postal code areas were citizens initiatives are less likely to be present because a smaller population is negatively related to the presence of citizens initiatives.

5.2.1 Validity

There are a few threats to the validity of the found results that will be discussed here.

There could be a thread with regards to external validity. This is the case because, although we tried to make sure our database of citizens initiatives in care and welfare was complete it could be the case that there are citizens initiatives missing from it. The fact that many citizens initiatives are small, have a very local character and are not present on social media or the internet in general makes it hard to do an inventory that is complete. The observed lack of relation between citizens initiatives in care and welfare and the variables used in this study could be due to a limited list of citizens initiatives with possible selection on size, geographical location or services they provide.

The variable social capital was operationalized in such a way that only the shared networks part of the definition of social capital was operationalized. The shared norms that are also an important part of social capital according to Putnam (1995) were not part of the operationalization because we had no data on this part of social capital. Because of the limited operationalization of the concept of social capital the relations that were not found might not accurately display the reality and thus create a possibility for a type II statistical validity error.

5.2.2 Limitations

A limitation of this study was that it was not possible to gather all the data from the same year and measurement level. In the case of differing years this might lead findings to differ from the actual situation although no big shifts in the variables that are used are expected so the differences should not be too big. In the case of differing measurement levels this leads to a situation in which differences between areas appear to be smaller in the results because they cannot be measured on the lowest (postal code) area and so variation on postal code level is not taken into account.

Another note on the research of this study is that the concept "citizens' initiative in care and welfare" is very diffuse. The meaning can differ wildly based on what your source is. If one takes a broad definition of citizens' initiatives the risk exists that dissimilar initiatives get lumped together as if they were comparable. While if one takes a narrow perspective one runs the risk of excluding initiatives that might be comparable to initiatives that are included in the study. We have tried to define citizens' initiatives in care and welfare in such a way that was broad enough to include most comparable initiatives while excluding initiatives that were not comparable and also taking previous research into consideration. We do however not imply that our definition without flaws, it remains something to be critical about in further research and it also might partly explain why we did not find the relationships that we though would exist.

Diversity of preferences, according to theory one of the reasons for a care vacuum to emerge was only operationalized by one variable the percentage of people with a migration background. This is a limited operationalization because there could be many more factors that can cause diversity in the preferences for care. Examples of this are:

- 1. Diversity in age, older people have very different preferences for care then people around the age of 40
- 2. Diversity in social economic or occupational class, blue collar workers have differing preferences of care compared to office workers.

5.2.3 Further research

We found that in provinces that have a percentage of urban/semi-urban postal code areas above the countries average citizens' initiatives are overrepresented in urban/semi urban postal code areas (for example in Zuid-Holland 54.23% of the total postal codes in the province are urban/semi-urban while 96% of the citizens' initiatives are in urban/semi-urban postal codes) while in provinces that have a lower percentage of urban/semi-urban postal codes (except for Friesland but this difference is minor) citizens' initiatives are overrepresented in non-urban/semi-urban postal code areas. An interesting avenue for further research would be examining this difference and trying to explain why in more urban

provinces citizens' initiatives are prone to be active in more urban postal codes in proportion to the percentage of urban/semi-urban postal code areas while in more rural provinces citizens' initiatives are more prone to be active in more rural postal code areas.

This study aimed to explain the differences found in the geographical distribution of citizens' initiatives in care and welfare with quantitative research. To do this social, economic and demographic variables were used. One concept that was not used in this study because it fell out of the scope of this study is culture. We found that citizens' initiatives are present in bigger numbers in three main areas and that in some areas (Flevoland and Zeeland) no citizens' initiatives in care and welfare are active at all. It could be the case that there are cultural differences that cause this distribution instead of social, economic and demographic differences that were tested in this study. It would thus be a good idea to concentrate efforts of further research on the cultural aspects of different areas in the Netherlands and how these might cause differences in the presence of citizens' initiatives.

One of the more interesting and difficult to explain findings of this study was the fact that in areas where the distance to the nearest hospital decreased in the measured 7 years the chance that a citizens initiative would be present would be higher. This was contrary to our hypothesis and an explanation for this result is not readily available. Further research should be done to investigate if this finding can be replicated and if so what the possible reasons for this finding might be.

6. Policy advice

In this chapter the policy advice question: "*How can policy makers of public and private institutions stimulate citizens' initiatives in care and welfare?*" will be answered.

One of the aims of this study was to provide policy makers in public and private institutions with knowledge about the factors that stimulate the presence of citizens initiatives in an area or at least have a positive relation with it and after this knowledge was given formulate an advise on how these factors could be best used to stimulate citizens initiatives in care and welfare in an area. Because most of the hypotheses that we posed on the basis of theory are not significant or substantive it is difficult to formulate such advice. What makes it even more difficult is that the results that were found that were both significant and substantive are either not well understood and contrary to the hypothesis (decrease of distance to nearest hospital is positively related with presence of citizens' initiative) or not easy to influence (population, semi-rural areas, social economic status).

But the fact that no significant relations were found between the presence of citizens initiatives and variables that according to theory and most of the time also "common-sense" should have a relation with the presence of citizens initiatives is also a result that can help policy makers. It acts as a warning that policy makers should be careful when designing policy aimed at stimulating citizens initiatives in a certain area. They should be aware that there is a significant possibility that of the "obvious" or "common-sense" notions that a policy make might have about what stimulates the emergence of citizens initiatives might in fact not be true. In this research many factors that are often thought to stimulate communal action, voluntary work and citizens initiatives (in care and welfare or otherwise) like education level and social capital turned out to have no relation with it. So when a policy maker wants to stimulate the emergence of citizens initiatives (s)he should take extra care to look at the specific situation his areas is in and be aware that the influence of policy makers on the emergence of citizens initiatives might be limited.

7. Literature

Adler, A. (1927). Understanding human nature. Oxford: Greenberg

Aldrich, H. (1999). Organizations evolving. Sage.

- Ansari. S. (2013). Social Capital and Collective Efficacy: Resource and Operating Tools of Community Social Control. *Journal of Theoretical and Philosophical Criminology*. 5(2): 75-94.
- Arends, J., & Flöthe, L. (2015). *Wie doet er vrijwilligerswerk*. Den Haag: Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek .
- Baetens, T. (2013) *Ik is niks. Over vitale coalities rond wonen, zorg en leefbaarheid.* Den Haag: Uitgeverij SEP.
- Baker, W. E., & Bulkley, N. (2014). Paying it forward vs. rewarding reputation: Mechanisms of generalized reciprocity. *Organization science*, *25*(5), 1493-1510.
- Beest, R. van. (2014). Inventarisatie zorgcoöperaties 2014. Burgerinitiatieven in wonenzorgwelzijn in Nederland & omstreken. Aedes-Actiz Kenniscentrum Wonen-Zorg en Institutions for Collective Action.
- Bruijn, J.A. & De Graaf, F. (2012) Niet doorschuiven maar aanpakken: concept verkiezingsprogramma VVD 2012-2017. Received from: https://www.parlement.com/9291000/d/vvd2012.pdf on May 10th 2017
- Bokhorst, M (2015) De koers van zorgcoöperaties: Samenwerken zonder te verworden tot paradepaard of werkpaard van de participatiesamenleving. *Bestuurskunde* (24), 2.
- Borzaga C., Bodini R., Carini C., Depedri S., Galera G. and Salvatori G. (2014), "Europe in Transition: The Role of Social Cooperatives and Social Enterprises", Euricse Working Papers, 69/14.
- Bouwmans, J. Swinkels, W. (2015). *Gedeeld eigenbelang: een verkennend onderzoek naar* werkzame en belemmerende factoren van zorgcoöperaties. Tilburg: Tilburg University
- Bourdieu, P. (1985). The social space and the genesis of groups. *Information (International Social Science Council)*, 24(2), 195-220.
- Brady, H. E., Verba, S., & Schlozman, K. L. (1995). Beyond SES: A resource model of political participation. *American Political Science Review*, 89(02), 271-294.
- Joseph Bulbulia & Richard Sosis (2011): Signaling theory and the evolution of religious cooperation, Religion, 41:3, 363-388

- Burt, R.S. (2000) The network structure of social capital. *Research in Organizational Behaviour*, 22, 345-423.
- Buuren A. van & J. Edelenbos (2008). Kennis en kunde voor participatie: Dilemma's voor legitimiteit in de participatiemaatschappij. In G. Alberts, M. Blankesteijn, B. Broekhans & Y. van Tilborgh (Eds.), *Burger in uitvoering* (Jaarboek Kennissamenleving, 4). Amsterdam: Aksant. pp. 184-212.
- Carini C., Costa E., Carpita M., Andreaus M., (2012), The Italian Social Cooperatives in 2008: A Portrait Using Descriptive and Principal Component Analysis. Euricse Working Paper, N.035.
- Corey, G. (2009). *Theory and practice of counseling and psychotherapy*. Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Dictus, D. (2013). *Enquête burgerinitiatievenen Interviews zorgcoöperatie Austerlitz Zorgt*. Aedes-Actiz Kenniscentrum Wonen-Zorgen & Institutions for collective action.
- Diekmann, A., & Lindenberg, S. (2001). Sociological aspects of cooperation. *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences. New York: Elsevier Science.*
- Dijkhoff, T. (2014) The Dutch Social Support Act in the shadow of the decentralization dream, Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law, 36:3, 276-294
- DiMaggio P and Louch H 1998 Socially embedded consumer transactions American Sociological Review 63:619-637
- Ellickson, R. C. (1991). Order without Law. Harvard University Press: Cambridge, MA
- Freudenburg, W.R. (1986). Density acquaintance and community research. *American Journal* of Sociology, 92: 27–63.
- Galanti, G. A. (2014). *Caring for patients from different cultures*. University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Granovetter, M. (1985). Economic action and social structure: the problem of embeddedness. *The American Journal of Sociology*. 91 (3): 487.
- Greiner K.A., Li C., Kawachi I., Hunt D.C. & Ahluwalia J.S. (2004). The relationships of social participation and community ratings to health and health behaviors in areas with high and low population density. *Social Science & Medicine*, 59, pp. 2303-2312
- Heikkilä, K. & Ekman, S. L. (2003). Elderly care for ethnic minorities--wishes and expectations among elderly Finns in Sweden. *Ethnicity and Health*, 8(2), 135-146.

- Hendriks, F. (2009). Contextualizing the Dutch drop in political trust: Connecting underlying factors. International Review of Administrative Sciences, 75(3), 473-491.
- Iannaconne, Laurence R. 1994. Why strict churches are strong. *American Journal of Sociology* 99(5):1180–1211.
- Johnston, R. & Patty, C. (2011). How big is the Big Society? *Parliamentary Affairs* 64(3), 403–42
- Knijn, T. (2004). *Het Prijzen van de Zorg: Sociaal beleid op het snijvlak van privé en publiek.* Oldenzaal: Universiteit Utrecht.
- Lin, N. (1999). Building a Network Theory of Social Capital. Connections, 22(1), 28-51.
- Lindenberg, S. (1986) *The paradox of privatization in consumption*. In Paradoxical Effects of Social Behavior, eds A. Diekmann& P. Mitter. Physica: Heidelberg/Vienna.
- Lindenberg, S. (1991) Social approval, fertility and female labour market behaviour. In Female Labour Market Behaviour and Fertility: A Rational Choice Approach, eds J. J. Siegers, J. De Jong-Gierveld& I. Van Imhoff. Springer: Berlin/New York.
- Lindenberg, S. & Frey, B. S. (1993) Alternatives, frames, and relative prices: a broader view of rational choice theory. *Acta Sociologica* 36, 191-205.
- Merino, S. M. (2010). Religious diversity in a "Christian nation": The effects of theological exclusivity and interreligious contact on the acceptance of religious diversity. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 49(2), 231-246.
- Ormel, J., Lindenberg, S. M., Steverink, B. J. M., & Verbrugge, L. M. (1996). Welbevinden en de theorie van de sociale produktiefuncties. *Dagelijks functioneren van ouderen*. *Assen: Van Gorcum*, 117-135.
- Ostrom, E., Schroeder, L.D. & Wynne, S.G. (1993). *Institutional Incentives and Sustainable Development: Infrastructure Policies in Perspective*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Oude Vrielink, M., & Verhoeven, I. (2011). Burgerinitiatieven en de bescheiden overheid. *B en M: tijdschrift voor beleid, politiek en maatschappij, 38*(11), 377-387.
- Passages uit toespraak van partijleider Kok. (1991). Retrieved from <u>https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/1991/09/30/passages-uit-toespraak-van-partijleider-kok-6981965-a610774</u>
- Peeters, R. en G. Drosterij, 2011, 'Verantwoordelijke vrijheid: responsabilisering van burgers op voorwaarden van de staat'. Beleid en Maatschappij, 38 (2): 179-189.

- Putnam, R.D. (1993). The prosperous community: social capital and public life. *American Prospect*, *4*(13), 35-42
- Putnam, R.D. Robert Leonardi, R.&Nanetti, R.Y. (1994) *Making democracy work: Civic traditions in modern Italy.* Princeton university press.
- Putnam, R. D. (1995). Tuning in, tuning out: The strange disappearance of social capital in America. *PS: Political science & politics*, 28(04), 664-683.
- Putnam R.D. (2000). *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Putnam R.D. (2001). Social Capital: Measurement and Consequences. Isuma: Canadian Journal of Policy Research [Internet]. 2, pp 41-51.
- Rosenthal, S., Feiring, C., & Lewis, M. (1998). Political volunteering from late adolescence to young adulthood. *Journal of social issues*, 54(3), 477-493.
- Sampson, R. J., Morenoff, J. D., & Earls, F. (1999). Beyond social capital: Spatial dynamics of collective efficacy for children. *American sociological review*, 633-660.
- Shariff, A. F., & Norenzayan, A. (2007). God is watching you: Priming God concepts increases prosocial behavior in an anonymous economic game. *Psychological science*, 18(9), 803-809.
- Spear, R. (2009). The phenomenology of social enterprises in Europe. In Bruno Roelants (Red), Cooperatives and social enterprises : governance and normative frameworks. Brussels : CECOP
- Stoeldraijer, L., van Duin, C., & Janssen, F. (2012). *Bevolkingsprognose 2012-2060: Model en veronderstellingen betreffende de sterfte*. Den Haag/ Voorburg: Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek.
- Thomas, A. (2004) The rise of social cooperative in Italy. *International Journal of Voluntary and Non-Profit Organizations.*
- Thomas, W.I., Thomas, D.A. (1928) *The child in America: Behavior problems and programs*. New York: Knopf
- Tobler W., (1970) "A computer movie simulating urban growth in the Detroit region". Economic Geography, 46(2): 234-240.
- Tronto, J. (1993). Moral boundaries. A political argument for an ethic of care.: Psychology Press.

- Turnhout, S., Jong, F. de, Veer, K. van der, Bruijn, D. de, Nourozi, S. &Xanten, van H. (2016) *Wat knelt?* Received on 2 March 2017 from: <u>https://www.movisie.nl/sites/default/files/alfresco_files/wat-knelt%20%5BMOV-10821990-1.0%5D.pdf</u>
- Van Opstal (2011) *Coöperaties in zorg*. Received on May 10th 2017 from: https://lirias.kuleuven.be/bitstream/123456789/393221/1/Rapport.pdf
- Van Rijn, M. (2015). Hervormingen langdurige zorg en decentralisatie van het jeugdstelsel. Received on 2 march 2017 from: https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/binaries/rijksoverheid/documenten/kamerstukken/2015/0 1/28/kamerbrief-over-hervorming-langdurige-zorg-en-decentralisatie-van-hetjeugdstelsel/kamerbrief-over-hervorming-langdurige-zorg-en-decentralisatie-van-hetjeugdstelsel.pdf
- Van Rijn, M. (2016). Integrale blik op mantelzorg. Received on2th of march 2017 from: <u>https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/binaries/rijksoverheid/documenten/kamerstukken/2016/0</u> <u>7/08/kamerbrief-over-integrale-blik-op-mantelzorg/kamerbrief-over-integrale-blik-op-mantelzorg.pdf</u>
- Van Xanten, H., Schonewille, J., Engelen, J., & Maat, J. W. v. d. (2011). Sterke verhalen. Burgerinitiatieven voor voorzieningen in kleine dorpen (pp. 48). Rotterdam/Utrecht: Movisie
- Vermeij, L. Gielling, J. (2016) *De dorpse doe-democratie: Lokaal burgerschap bekeken vanuit verschillende groepen dorpsbewoners*. Received on 28 February from: https://www.scp.nl/dsresource?objectid=9b2209d0-91c4-4bbd-bf5d-e500e82e7b92&type=org
- Vries, W. de, Veen, E. van der, Bock, B., Christiaanse, S. & Haartsen, T. (2017). The perceived importance of facilities for rural citizens in Fryslân, the Netherlands in: Special issue on welfare of rural fragile areas of Sociologia e Politiche Sociali.
- Waverijn, G., Groenewegen, P. P., & Klerk, M. (2017). Social capital, collective efficacy and the provision of social support services and amenities by municipalities in the Netherlands. *Health & social care in the community*, 25(2), 414-423.
- Willem-Alexander der Nederlanden. (2013). Troonrede 2013 retrieved from: https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/toespraken/2013/09/17/troonrede-2013
- Wilson, J. (2000). Volunteering. Annual Review of Sociology, 26, 215–240.
- Wit, L.C.L.J. de, Romijn, A. Jacobs, M.E. Kooij, J. en Buysse, W.B. (2002). Allochtone senioren in Zuid-Holland. Een inventariserend onderzoek naar de specifieke wensen en behoeften van allochtone senioren. Voorburg: Tympaan Instituut.

Wuthnow, R. (1999). Mobilizing civic engagement: The changing impact of religious involvement. *Civic engagement in American democracy*, 331-363.

8. Apendix

Between (x – y)	Ν	Spearman's rho	P-value
Urbanity - Population / 10000	4017	-0.723	0.000
Urbanity – Hospital current	3846	0.706	0.000
Urbanity – High school	3846	0.740	0.000
Urbanity – Migrant background	4017	-0.759	0.000
Catholic – Protestant	3741	-0.782	0.000
Islam – Migrant background	3741	0.703	0.000
Age 65-75 – Age 75+	4017	0.703	0.000
Distance GP – Distance pharmacy	3846	0.721	0.000

Table 8.1 - correlation between independent variables using spearman's rho

Figure 8.1 – distribution of continuous variable change in distance to grocery store



Grocery store			
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1	59	1.54	1.54
2	133	3.46	5.00
3	1196	31.12	36.12
4	10.49	27.30	63.41
5	1406	36.59	100.00
Elementary school			
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1	15	0.39	0.39
2	470	12.29	12.68
3	3031	79.24	91.92
4	167	4.37	96.29
5	142	3.71	100
High school			
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1	61	1.59	1.59
2	452	11.76	13.35
3	2390	62.19	75.54
4	566	14.73	90.27
5	374	9.73	100
Library			
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1	179	4.66	4.66
2	532	13.84	18.50
3	2142	55.74	74.24
4	437	11.37	85.61
5	553	14.39	100

Table 8.2 – distribution of categories in distance change variables general services



Figure 8.2 – distribution of continuous variable change in distance to GP

Conceral presetition or			
General practitioner	<u>a</u>	D	<u> </u>
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1	38	0.99	0.99
2	514	13.37	14.36
3	2812	73.17	87.54
4	303	7.88	95.42
5	176	4.58	100.00
Pharmacy			
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1	79	2.06	2.06
2	530	13.79	15.85
3	2601	67.68	83.53
4	310	8.07	91.60
5	323	8.40	100
Hospital			
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1	59	1.54	1.54
2	133	3.46	5.00
3	1196	31.12	36.12
4	1049	27.30	63.41
5	1406	36.59	100

Table 8.3 – distribution of categories in distance change variables for care services

Urbanity			
Category	Count	Percent	Cumulative percent
1 Urban	364	9.06	9.06
2 Semi-urban	537	13.37	22.43
3 Intermediate	483	12.02	34.45
4 Semi-rural	577	14.36	48.82
5 Rural	2056	51.18	100

Table 8.4 – distribution of categories in urbanity

Table 8.5 – Moran's I test for Limburg, Noord-Brabant and both combined

Region	Observed	Expected	Standard deviation	P value	
Limburg	0.0473	-0.0036	0.0073	0.0000	
Noord-Brabant	0.0419	-0.0020	0.0093	0.0000	
Combined	0.0335	-0.0012	0.0030	0.0000	

	M0 Constant	M1 control	M2 necessity	M3 capacity	M4 models of action
	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)
Dep = initiative yes or no					
Fixed coefficients	0.005	0.064			
Constant	(0.015)***	(0.02)***	0.002 (0.047)	0.106 (0.126)	0.149 (0.157)
Level: Postal code area	(01020)	(0.02)	(0.0.1)		
Population / 10000		0 (0.038)	-0.003 (0.047)	0.053 (0.062)	0.052 (0.062)
Social economic status		-0.019 (0.012)	-0.008 (0.013)	-0.007 (0.023)	-0.01 (0.023)
Percentage of 75+			0.007 (0.003)	0.012 (0.006)	0.013 (0.006)*
Current distance GP			-0.012 (0.009)	0.002 (0.015)	0 (0.015)
Current distance pharmacy			0.019(0.008) 0.002(0.001)	0.003(0.012) 0.004(0.003)	0.002(0.012) 0.005(0.004)
Current distance grocery store			-0.013(0.001)	-0.004(0.003)	-0.015(0.004)
Current distance elementary			01012 (01007)	0.010 (0.017)	
school			-0.018 (0.012)	-0.009 (0.033)	-0.01 (0.033)
Current distance high school			0.006 (0.003)	0.004 (0.005)	0.003 (0.005)
Current distance library			-0.004 (0.004)	-0.002 (0.006)	0.001 (0.006)
Change in distance: GP big			0.007 (0.055)	0.045 (0.1)	0.044 (0.1)
decrease (ref=small increase)			-0.007 (0.055)	-0.045 (0.1)	-0.044 (0.1)
decrease			-0.008 (0.028)	-0.03 (0.037)	-0.028 (0.037)
Change in distance: GP moderate			-0.008 (0.028)	-0.03 (0.037)	-0.028 (0.037)
increase			0.026 (0.032)	-0.023 (0.07)	-0.016 (0.07)
Change in distance: GP big			~ /	~ /	
increase			0.054 (0.042)	0.146 (0.101)	0.154 (0.102)
Change in distance: pharmacy					
big decrease (ref=small increase)			-0.033 (0.04)	-0.035 (0.053)	-0.041 (0.053)
Change in distance: pharmacy			0.052 (0.020)	0.042 (0.042)	0.02(0.044)
Small decrease Change in distance: pharmacy			-0.055 (0.029)	-0.043 (0.043)	-0.036 (0.044)
moderate increase			-0.023 (0.031)	0.008 (0.065)	0 009 (0 065)
Change in distance: pharmacy			0.025 (0.051)	0.000 (0.005)	0.009 (0.003)
big increase			-0.025 (0.032)	0.053 (0.054)	0.057 (0.054)
Change in distance: hospital big			0.254		
decrease (ref=small increase)			(0.082)**	0.274 (0.101)**	0.246 (0.102)*
Change in distance: hospital					0.100 (0.005)#
small decrease			0.092 (0.063)	0.23 (0.084)**	0.199 (0.086)*
moderate increase			-0.015 (0.023)	-0.039 (0.035)	-0.043 (0.035)
Change in distance: hospital big			-0.015 (0.025)	-0.037 (0.033)	-0.043 (0.033)
increase			-0.032 (0.027)	-0.034 (0.044)	-0.034 (0.044)
Change in distance: grocery store			· · · ·	~ /	
big decrease (ref=small increase)			0.022 (0.039)	0.055 (0.076)	0.052 (0.077)
Change in distance: grocery store					
small decrease			0.018 (0.022)	0.034 (0.03)	0.033 (0.03)
Change in distance: grocery store			0.055 (0.025)	0 197 (0 09)	0.194(0.09)
Change in distance: grocery store			0.055 (0.055)	0.187 (0.08)	0.184 (0.08)
big increase			0.033 (0.03)	0.05 (0.063)	0.044 (0.063)
Change in distance: elementary			(01000)	0.00 (0.000)	
school big decrease (ref=small					
increase)			0.053 (0.206)	0.000 (0.000)	0.000 (0.000)
Change in distance: elementary					
school small decrease			-0.017 (0.026)	0.000 (0.043)	-0.006 (0.044)
change in distance: elementary			0.043 (0.027)	0.007 (0.080)	0.004 (0.090)
Change in distance: elementary			0.045 (0.057)	-0.007 (0.080)	-0.004 (0.080)
school big increase			0.066 (0.042)	-0.067 (0.110)	-0.055 (0.111)
Change in distance: high school			(0.0 .=)		
big decrease (ref=small increase)			0.047 (0.070)	0.133 (0.108)	0.163 (0.108)
Change in distance: high school					
small decrease			-0.022 (0.031)	-0.039 (0.043)	-0.026 (0.043)

Table 8.6 results multilevel analysis with rural postal codes

Change in distance: high school					
moderate increase			-0.027 (0.022)	-0.042 (0.036)	-0.034 (0.036)
Change in distance: high school					
big increase			-0.005 (0.03)	0.037 (0.051)	0.042 (0.052)
Change in distance: library big					
decrease (ref=small increase)			-0.017 (0.034)	-0.023 (0.05)	-0.017 (0.051)
Change in distance: library small					
decrease			0.03 (0.026)	0.042 (0.034)	0.045 (0.034)
Change in distance: library					
moderate increase			0.005 (0.026)	0.044 (0.048)	0.036 (0.048)
Change in distance: library big					
increase			0.011 (0.027)	0.041 (0.041)	0.035 (0.041)
Percentage of migrants			-0.001 (0.002)	0 (0.002)	-0.001 (0.003)
Social capital				0.191 (0.155)	0.182 (0.156)
Percentage 65-75				-0.016 (0.007)*	-0.017 (0.007)*
Distance to other initiatives					-0.001 (0.002)
Level: Municipality					
Residential turnover				-0.001 (0.001)	-0.001 (0.001)
Percentage high education				0.002 (0.003)	0.001 (0.003)
Religion: catholic					0.001 (0.001)
Religion: protestant					-0.001 (0.001)
Religion: muslim					-0.014 (0.019)
Random coefficients					
Level: province variance	0.001 (0.001)	0.001 (0.001)	0.001 (0.001)	0.000 (0.000)	0.000 (0.000)
Level: municipal variance	0.007	0.009	0.007	0.007 (0.002)*	0.005 (0.002)*
	(0.002)*	(0.002)*	(0.002)*		
Units: province	11	11	11	11	11
Units: municipality	94	93	93	85	84
Units: postal code area	969	785	777	368	366
Intra class correlation province	0.0024	0.0003	0.0024	0.0000	0.0000
Intra class correlation	0.0021	0.0027	0.0021	0.0021	0.0015
municipality province					
-2*loglikelihood	-467.672	-253.036	-292.914	-123.353	-126.461
-2*loglikelihood change	-	214.636***	-39.878	169.561***	-3.108

*** P: < 0.001, ** P: <0.01, * P:<0.05

Table 8.7 results multilevel with urban/semi-urban postal codes

	M0 Constant	M1 control	M2 pagagity	M2 consoitu	M4 models of action
	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)
Den - initiative ves or no	D (3E)	D (SL)	ы (ыс)	ы (ыс)	D (SE)
Fixed coefficients					
Constant	0.038				
Constant	(0.009)***	-0.016 (0.015)	-0.058 (0.038)	-0.289 (0.063)	-0.299 (0.083)***
Level: postal code areas	(0.00))	0.010 (0.010)	0.020 (0.020)		012// (01000)
Population / 10000		0.082	0.073 (0.02)	0.078	
- •F		(0.017)***	***	(0.022)***	0.072 (0.022)**
Social economic status		0.011	0.024 (0.006)	0.034	
		(0.005)*	***	(0.007)***	0.029 (0.008)***
Percentage of 75+		. ,	0.001 (0.002)	-0.003 (0.003)	-0.003 (0.003)
Current distance GP			-0.008 (0.023)	-0.019 (0.031)	-0.022 (0.031)
Current distance pharmacy			0.001 (0.018)	-0.004 (0.023)	-0.003 (0.023)
Current distance hospital			-0.005 (0.004)	-0.003 (0.004)	-0.002 (0.004)
Current distance grocery store			-0.020 (0.024)	-0.029 (0.031)	-0.021 (0.032)
Current distance elementary school			0.005 (0.023)	-0.025 (0.042)	-0.023 (0.043)
Current distance high school			0.006 (0.008)	0.003 (0.009)	0.001 (0.010)
Current distance library			0.005 (0.01)	0.01 (0.012)	0.009 (0.012)
Change in distance: GP big					
decrease (ref=small increase)			-0.169 (0.128)	-0.062 (0.228)	-0.06 (0.229)
Change in distance: GP small					
decrease			0.008 (0.020)	0 (0.021)	0.002 (0.022)
Change in distance: GP moderate			0.001 (0.007)	0.007 (0.045)	0.000 (0.045)
increase			0.001 (0.037)	0.007 (0.045)	0.002 (0.046)
Change in distance: GP big			0.010 (0.050)	0.011 (0.005)	
increase			-0.013 (0.073)	-0.011 (0.096)	-0.002 (0.097)
Change in distance: pharmacy big			0.004 (0.127)	0.000 (0.220)	0.024 (0.222)
change in distances pharmacy			-0.004 (0.137)	0.009 (0.230)	-0.024 (0.232)
small degrasse			0.018 (0.010)	0.02(0.020)	0.010(0.020)
Change in distance: pharmacy			-0.018 (0.019)	-0.02 (0.020)	-0.019 (0.020)
moderate increase			0.031 (0.041)	0.043 (0.049)	0.046 (0.049)
Change in distance: pharmacy big			0.031 (0.041)	0.045 (0.047)	0.040 (0.049)
increase			-0.035 (0.065)	-0.014(0.081)	-0.012(0.081)
Change in distance: hospital big			0.055 (0.005)	0.011 (0.001)	0.012 (0.001)
decrease (ref=small increase)			0.091 (0.065)	0.088 (0.074)	0.085 (0.074)
Change in distance: hospital small					
decrease			0.037 (0.028)	0.034 (0.030)	0.032 (0.030)
Change in distance: hospital			~ /	· · · ·	
moderate increase			0.021 (0.020)	0.022 (0.022)	0.017 (0.022)
Change in distance: hospital big					
increase			0.032 (0.021)	0.019 (0.022)	0.015 (0.023)
Change in distance: grocery store					
big decrease (ref=small increase)			-0.046 (0.084)	-0.101 (0.107)	-0.091 (0.107)
Change in distance: grocery store					
small decrease			-0.004 (0.018)	-0.007 (0.02)	-0.004 (0.02)
Change in distance: grocery store			0.041 (0.050)	0.067 (0.060)	0.050 (0.07)
moderate increase			0.041 (0.052)	0.067 (0.069)	0.059 (0.07)
Change in distance: grocery store			0.045(0.000)	0.01 (0.120)	0.008 (0.12)
Change in distances elementary			0.045 (0.069)	0.016 (0.129)	0.008 (0.13)
school big decrease (ref-small			0.258		
increase)			(0.114)*	0 103 (0 336)	0 110 (0 337)
Change in distance: elementary			(0.114)	0.105 (0.550)	0.110 (0.557)
school small decrease			-0.008 (0.020)	-0.011 (0.022)	-0.013(0.022)
Change in distance: elementary			0.000 (0.020)	0.011 (0.022)	0.015 (0.022)
school moderate increase			0.051 (0.053)	0.06 (0.074)	0.063 (0.075)
Change in distance: elementary			(0.000)		(
school big increase			-0.009 (0.090)	0.005 (0.156)	-0.002 (0.157)
Change in distance: high school big				. /	· /
decrease (ref=small increase)			-0.049 (0.052)	-0.038 (0.055)	-0.038 (0.055)

Change in distance: high school					
small decrease			-0.012 (0.019)	-0.011 (0.020)	-0.014 (0.020)
Change in distance: high school			· · · ·	· · · ·	
moderate increase			-0.001 (0.025)	-0.004 (0.029)	-0.002 (0.029)
Change in distance: high school big			· · · ·	· · · ·	
increase			-0.012 (0.039)	-0.01 (0.045)	-0.003 (0.046)
Change in distance: library big					
decrease (ref=small increase)			-0.017 (0.042)	-0.024 (0.046)	-0.019 (0.048)
Change in distance: library small					
decrease			0.029 (0.019)	0.034 (0.021)	0.035 (0.021)
Change in distance: library					
moderate increase			-0.004 (0.024)	0.005 (0.026)	-0.001 (0.027)
Change in distance: library big					
increase			-0.004 (0.026)	-0.004 (0.029)	-0.009 (0.029)
Percentage of migrants			0.002	0.003	
			(0.001)**	(0.001)***	0.002 (0.001)*
Social capital				-0.009 (0.077)	-0.018 (0.078)
Percentage 65-75				0.011	
C C				(0.004)**	0.01 (0.004)
Distance to other initiatives					-0.001 (0.001)
Level: municipality					
Level: municipality Residential turnover				0.001	
Level: municipality Residential turnover				0.001 (0.000)**	0.001 (0.000)**
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education				0.001 (0.000)** 0.003	0.001 (0.000)**
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education				0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic				0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001)
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant				0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001)
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim				0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003)
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim				0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083)
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients				0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083)
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance	0.000 (0.000)	0.000 (0.000)	0.000 (0.000)	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)**	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000)
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001)	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001)	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001)	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000)	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000)
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province Units: municipality	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11 76	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 76	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 75
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province Units: province Units: postal code area	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1193	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1102	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11 76 1064	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 76 963	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 75 953
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province Units: municipality Units: municipality Units: postal code area Intra class correlation province	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1193 0.000	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1102 0.000	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11 76 1064 0.000	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 76 963 0.000	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 111 75 953 0.000
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province Units: province Units: municipality Units: postal code area Intra class correlation province Intra class correlation municipality	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1193 0.000 0.0006	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1102 0.000 0.0006	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11 76 1064 0.000 0.0003	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 76 963 0.000 0.000	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 111 75 953 0.000 0.000 0.000
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province Units: municipality Units: postal code area Intra class correlation province Intra class correlation municipality province	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1193 0.000 0.0006	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1102 0.000 0.0006	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11 76 1064 0.000 0.0003	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 76 963 0.000 0.000	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 111 75 953 0.000 0.000 0.000
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province Units: province Units: municipality Units: postal code area Intra class correlation province Intra class correlation municipality province -2*loglikelihood	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1193 0.000 0.0006 -262.469	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1102 0.000 0.0006 -189.129	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11 76 1064 0.000 0.0003 -231.042	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 76 963 0.000 0.000 0.000 -159.244	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 11 75 953 0.000 0.000 0.000 -153.293
Level: municipality Residential turnover Percentage high education Religion: catholic Religion: protestant Religion: muslim Random coefficients Level: province variance Level: municipal variance Units: province Units: province Units: municipality Units: postal code area Intra class correlation province Intra class correlation municipality province -2*loglikelihood -2*loglikelihood change	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1193 0.000 0.0006 -262.469	0.000 (0.000) 0.002 (0.001) 11 76 1102 0.000 0.0006 -189.129 73.34***	0.000 (0.000) 0.001 (0.001) 11 76 1064 0.000 0.0003 -231.042 -41.913	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0.000 (0.000) 0.000 (0.000) 11 76 963 0.000 0.000 0.000 -159.244 71.798***	0.001 (0.000)** 0.003 (0.001)** 0 (0.001) 0 (0.001) 0.005 (0.003) -0.299 (0.083) 0.000 (0.000) 11 75 953 0.000 0.000 0.000 -153.293 -4.049